

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Strategies for Sustaining Small Family Restaurant Businesses

Charlotte Lynell Cumbo Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Charlotte L. Cumbo

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Edward Walker, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Lisa Cave, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Roger Mayer, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

Abstract

Strategies for Sustaining Small Family Restaurant Businesses

by

Charlotte L. Cumbo

MBA, Keller Graduate School of Management, 2010 BBA, Sam Houston State University, 1986

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

July 2023

Abstract

The restaurant business is a highly competitive industry in which 30% of small restaurant businesses fail within the first year of operations. Grounded in Porter's five forces analysis conceptual framework, the purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore strategies that small family restaurant business owners used to sustain their business beyond five years of beginning operations. The purposive sample for this study included five small family restaurant business owners located in the southwest region of Texas who used key strategies to achieve sustainability beyond five years of beginning operations. Data were collected from semistructured interviews, restaurant owners' documentation, and member checking to validate and confirm data. Methodological triangulation analysis yielded four themes, including quality product and consistency, marketing, customer loyalty, and finance. A key recommendation is for small family restaurant business owners to use quality product and consistency as a strategy to achieve sustainability in a competitive industry. The implications for positive social change include the potential for sustainable small restaurant business owners to contribute to local communities' economic growth and stainability by increasing employment opportunities and prosperity in local communities.

Strategies for Sustaining Small Family Restaurant Businesses

by

Charlotte L. Cumbo

MBA, Keller Graduate School of Management, 2010 BBA, Sam University], 1996

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

July 2023

Dedication

I dedicated this doctoral study to my spouse, Denise Cumbo for being my supporter and confidant. You pushed and prayed for me during those trying times and significant setbacks. You believed in me when there were times that I did not believe in myself. My mother, Gloria Cumbo has always supported and encouraged me to do my best. To my former high school coach Sandra Walker, who saw the best and demanded the best from a hard head youngster. If it were not for your tough love, where would I be? Thank you, coach.

A special thank you to Dr. Pamela Douglas-Ntagha for encouraging me to pursue my doctoral degree; to my deceased stepmother Bobbie Cumbo who instilled in me that I can do all things through Christ, who strengthens me. Finally, I dedicate this study to my family and friends, who supported me with encouraging words and unconditional prayers, especially when I felt overwhelmed.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my heavenly Father from whence all my blessings flow. With faith and trust in God, anything is possible. I want to extend a special thank you to Dr. Edward Walker for his words of inspiration, mentorship, and guidance, especially during my journey when I almost gave up. May God continue to bless him as he inspires and mentors' other future doctoral students. Lastly, I thank my committee members, Dr. Lisa Manning Cave and Dr. Roger Mayer, who exhibited their expertise, competency, and direction to guide me throughout each phase of my doctoral study. I was blessed to have an amazing committee to whom I will forever be grateful.

Table of Contents

List of Tableiv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study.
Background of the Problem
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement
Nature of the Study
Research Question
Interview Questions
Conceptual Framework
Operational Definitions
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations
Assumptions
Limitations
Delimitations
Significance of the Study
Contribution to Business Practice
Implications for Social Change
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature10
Porter's Five Forces Analysis
Competitive Advantage
Business Models
General Overview of Small Businesses

Transition	48
Section 2: The Project	49
Purpose Statement	49
Role of the Researcher	50
Participants	52
Research Method and Design	54
Research Method	54
Research Design	55
Population and Sampling	57
Ethical Research	58
Data Collection Instruments	60
Data Collection Technique	62
Data Organization Technique	63
Data Analysis	64
Reliability and Validity	66
Reliability	66
Validity	68
Transition and Summary	71
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	73
Introduction	73
Presentation of the Findings	73
Theme 1: Product Quality and Consistency	74
Theme 2: Marketing	80

Theme 3: Customer Loyalty	84
Theme 4: Finances	87
Applications to Professional Practice	91
Implications for Social Change	92
Recommendations for Action	92
Recommendations for Further Research	94
Reflections	95
Conclusion	95
References	97
Appendix A: Letter of Invitation	143
Appendix B: Participant Consent Form	144
Appendix C: Interview Protocol and Questions	146

List of Table

Table 1. Frequency of Participants' Responses Related to Strategies Small Family	
Restaurant Business Owners Use to Sustain Business Beyond 5 Years of	
Beginning Operations	71

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

The restaurant industry is a major contributor to economic growth and sustainability in the United States (National Restaurant Association, 2021). In 2020, restaurant owners employed approximately 12.5 million people (National Restaurant Association, 2021). According to the U.S. Small Business Administration, approximately 30.7 (SBA, 2019) million small businesses operated in the United States of which approximately 64% were small restaurant owners (SBA, 2019). Unfortunately, 50% of small business owners failed to achieve sustainability beyond 5 years of operations. The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study will be to explore strategies that some small family restaurant business owners use to achieve sustainability beyond 5 years of beginning operations.

Background of the Problem

Most restaurants employ less than 50 employees and account for 659 billion in revenue (National Restaurant Association, 2021). The restaurant industry is a highly attractive market industry for small business owners seeking to enter a growing revenue generating industry (Nemeschansky, 2020). Due to market and revenue growth, the restaurant business is a highly competitive industry resulting in the need for small restaurant owners to implement strategies that support sustainability (Raab et al., 2018). Increased competition creates challenges for small businesses to survive, resulting in the need for small business owners to implement sustainability strategies (Sun & Lee, 2021).

Problem Statement

Small restaurant businesses experience low sustainability rates due to a highly

competitive business industry (Mun & Jang, 2018, p.68). Thirty percent of small restaurant businesses fail within the first year of operations (Nel et al., 2018, p.3). The general business problem is some small family restaurant business owners lack strategies for sustainability. The specific business problem is that some small family restaurant business owners lack competitive strategies to achieve sustainability beyond 5 years of beginning operations.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that some small family restaurant business owners use to achieve sustainability beyond 5 years of beginning operations. The target population consisted of five small family restaurant business owners located in the southwest region of Texas, who have implemented strategies to achieve sustainability beyond 5 years of beginning operations. The implication for positive social change includes the potential for small restaurant business owners to contribute to local communities' economic growth and stainability by increasing employment opportunities and prosperity in local communities.

Nature of the Study

The qualitative research method was the foundation for this study. Researchers use a qualitative method to explore a central phenomenon using social and other nonnumerical data (Kallio et al., 2016). The qualitative method was appropriate for this study because the intent was to use semi structured interviews and open-ended questions to conduct an in-depth exploration of small family restaurant business owners' lived experiences. Quantitative researchers use numerical data to test formulated hypotheses or

determine the mathematical relationships among variables (Lipowski et al., 2018). The quantitative research method was not appropriate for this study because I was not testing hypotheses or the relationship among variables. The mixed method consists of both qualitative and quantitative methodologies that enable the researcher to use nonnumerical and numerical data to explore and examine a single phenomenon (McKim, 2017). The mixed method was not appropriate for this study because there was no quantitative method needed to address this study.

For this qualitative study, I considered case study, ethnography, phenomenology, and narrative research designs. A case study was the chosen research design for this study. Researchers apply a case study design to conduct an in-depth analysis of a complicated issue from different individuals' views and lived experiences (Harrison et al., 2017). I conducted a multiple case study instead of a single case study to explore and compare individual views and lived experiences of a central phenomenon involving more than one case or entity. Researchers use ethnographic designs to study groups' cultures (Hammersley, 2018). Ethnography was not appropriate for this study because my intent was not to study a group's culture. A phenomenological approach is appropriate when the researcher focuses on exploring individuals' shared worldviews of the meanings of personal lived experiences (Van Manen, 2017). Phenomenological design was not appropriate because I did not want to focus on exploring participants' shared views of personally experiencing a phenomenon. Narrative design is appropriate when the researcher's purpose is to explore a lived experience based on personal stories (Yin, 2018). Narrative design was not appropriate for this study because I did not intend to

research the central phenomenon based on participants' personal stories. A multiple case study design was appropriate for this study because it allowed me to conduct an in-depth analysis of strategies small family restaurant business owners use to sustain business beyond 5 years of beginning operations.

Research Question

The central research question for this study was: What strategies do small family restaurant business owners use to sustain business beyond 5 years of beginning operations?

Interview Questions

The following open- ended interview questions will address the research question:

- 1. What strategies worked best for sustaining your business beyond 5 years of beginning operations?
- 2. What strategies were least successful to sustain your business beyond 5 years of beginning operations?
- 3. How did you adapt your strategies to manage internal and external trends that influence your business sustainability beyond 5 years of beginning operations?
- 4. What strategies did you use to ensure the daily business practices aligned with the goal to sustain beyond 5 years of beginning operations?
- 5. How did you address the key challenges to implement the successful strategies for sustainability beyond 5 years of beginning operations?
- 6. What additional information would you like to share about the strategies and processes that contributed to sustaining your business beyond 5 years of

beginning operations?

Conceptual Framework

Porter's five forces analysis was the conceptual for this study. Porter's five forces five forces analysis provides business owners with a strategy to identify, analyze five forces analysis provides business owners with a strategy to identify, analyze, and manage five competitive forces that influence business performance (Pulaj, 2017). In 1979, Michael Porter introduced Porter's five forces analysis as a framework for business owners to develop a competitive advantage in the business industry by analyzing the strengths and weaknesses of an industry's competitive environment (Porter, 2008). The five forces include (a) threat of new entrants, (b) rivalry competition, (c) threat of substitute products, (d) bargaining power of buyers, and (e) bargaining power of suppliers (Porter, 2008).

A research analysis of competition using Porter's five forces analysis could provide business owners with insights for implementing strategies to address their competitive position in correlation to their competitors (Gnjidić, 2018). Business owners can explore strategies to sustain or increase their competitive market advantage and profits by applying Porter's five forces analysis (Juliana & Nyoman, 2019). Porter's five forces analysis, therefore, provided a potential lens for me to analyze small family restaurant business owners' strategies to respond to competition within the restaurant industry based on the results of the analysis.

Operational Definitions

Business failure: The definition of failure differs depending on the business owner's conceptualization of failure. For this study, business failure is defined as a small business owner's involuntary exit from business industry due to key contributory factors that influence business sustainability (Jenkins & McKelvie, 2016).

Business model: Most scholars broadly define a business model as a concept for a business leader to apply to achieve competitive advantage, cash flow, and create value, in which business leaders use the term interchangeably to include but not limited to a strategic plan, business plan or economic model or value creation (Geissdoerfer et al., 2018). For this study, a business model is a business leader's internal and external strategic decision-making activities to achieve value creation and competitive advantage (Lanzolla & Markides, 2020).

Competitiveness: Competitiveness is the ability of business owners to influence and sustain a certain market position within a specific market industry and apply their business competencies to influence profit value (Dhir et al., 2020). Competitiveness for this study will be business owners' ability to implement strategies to compete in rivalry industry.

Small business: The definition of a small business differs within various countries, as the United States Small Business Administration defines a small business as a business consisting of less than 500 employees (SBA, 2019).

Success: Success is the ability of a business owner to achieve preset financial and nonfinancial goals that support positive business performance (Yustian et al., 2021).

Sustainability: Sustainability is the ability or capacity to support short- and long-term aspects by implementing strategies and business models to overcome environmental challenges (Gauthier, 2017).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are those expectations considered true but are unverifiable (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). There were four assumptions within this study. The first assumption was participants' implemented strategies for achieving sustainability related to Porter's five forces analysis, specifically rivalry of competition. The second assumption was that participants would be open and honest in responses to interview questions and control bias. The third assumption was the collected data would address the central research question. The fourth assumption was the sample of participants would be representative of small family-owned restaurant businesses throughout the geographic location.

Limitations

Limitations are uncontrollable factors that potentially weaken the results of the study (Ross & Bibler Zaidi, 2019). There are three limitations to this study. The first limitation was time constraints to complete the study. The second limitation was the validation sources, in which the data collection and validation process included the researcher and participant. A third limitation was the participants' willingness to participate until data saturation was achieved.

Delimitations

Delimitations are controllable bounds or scopes of the study set by the researcher to improve the outcome of the study (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). Three delimitations applied to this study. The first delimitation was the geographic location, which was the southwest region of Texas. The southwest region of Texas is one of the most profitable regions for small business owners (National Restaurant Association, 2017). The second delimitation was the selected population, in which the study included five small family-owned restaurant business owners who have achieved sustainability beyond 5 years. A final delimitation was a private interview setting to assist participants with a clear focus on open-ended interview questions.

Significance of the Study

The study findings can be of value to small family restaurant business owners by providing information on strategies that contribute to sustaining a business beyond 5 years of beginning operations. If small business owners are to achieve sustainability, business owners must integrate strategies that contribute to sustainable development (Verreynne et al., 2016). Small family restaurant business owners in the southwest region of Texas who experience sustainability challenges resulting from competitive factors might learn from successful small family restaurant business owners. The results of this study could contribute to current and future small business owners integrating business acumen and improving processes for managing critical business environmental challenges and business sustainability. Restaurateurs might gain insights from this study on sustainability strategies that generate jobs and provide stable income for local families

resulting in decreasing local unemployment rates.

Contribution to Business Practice

Small family restaurant business owners face challenges with managing emerging trends in external environments that evolve from a decline in revenue due to the COVID-19 pandemic, limited resources, increased competition, government regulation, and limited business knowledge and skills (Madeira et al., 2021). Some researchers have shown that efficacious business strategies can contribute to the sustainability of small business owners (Barbosa et al., 2020). The contributions of this study could influence small family restaurant business owners to use a structured analysis process for seizing environmental opportunities and addressing threats to increase their competitive positions and sustain beyond 5 years of beginning operations.

Implications for Social Change

Small family restaurant business owners are local and national economic drivers in the southwest region of the United States (National Restaurant Association, 2018). The implications for positive social change include the potential for small family restaurant business owners to contribute to local communities' economic growth and sustainability by increasing employment opportunities and prosperity in local communities. As small family restaurant business owners implement strategies to generate revenue and improve business sustainability, they increase the potential of employment opportunities and economic solidarity for families and attract other businesses within local communities.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of conducting this academic literature review for this qualitative case study is to explore strategies small family restaurant business owners use to achieve sustainability beyond 5 years of beginning operations. In 2016, there over 600,000 restaurant business owners in the United States (Lock, 2018). However, the sustainability rate of small restaurant business owners beyond 5 years of beginning operations was 30 % (Parsa et al., 2019). Researchers conduct a literature review to provide a synopsis and summary of previous research as it relates to a specific research topic (Paul & Criado, 2020). Scholars and researchers conduct a literature review to provide a structured content analysis of sources that support the relevance and contribution of innovative ideas and conceptual framework in a research study (O'Leary, 2018).

The literature review sources for this study will primarily consist of Google Scholar, United States Small Business Administration (SBA), Walden University Library, Business Source, Business Journal, Sage, and ProQuest. I will use 220 sources in the review of the literature for this study. Of the 225 sources, at least 85% will be peer reviewed and published in 2017 or later. Ulrich's Periodical Directory will serve as a primary tool for verifying sources cited in the literature review are peer-reviewed. Most sources will include publications dates between 2017 and 2021.

Key search words used in these databases will include the following: *small* business sustainability, strategies of small business owners, small business success, small family owned restaurants, industry analysis, five forces analysis, rivalry of competition,

restaurant competition business leadership practices, deficiencies in small restaurant business, and comparison of successful small business owners to unsuccessful small business owners. The literature review sections in this study will comprise eight subject components, (a) Porter's five forces analysis, (b) rivalry of competition, (c) business models, (d) general overview of small businesses, (e) small restaurant businesses, (f) perceived small business success, (g) perceived small business failure, and (f) sustainability.

Porter's Five Forces Analysis

Michael Porter (2008) developed Porter's five forces analysis in 1979 as a model for business owners to analyze five critical factors that influence the external environment's strength and weaknesses. Business owners use Porter's five forces analysis to assess and evaluate a business industry's competitiveness and profitability (Omsa et al., 2017). Business owners develop strategies according to their analysis of the industry's competitiveness (Omsa et al., 2017). By applying Porter's five forces analysis, business owners can access and gain knowledge on their strategic position within the business industry (Caballero-Morales, 2021).

Porter's five forces analysis is based on the concept that the following five key forces influence an industry market and business owner's competitive position and profit capacity (Goyal, 2020).

A. Rivalry competition. The larger the number of existing business owners in a business industry the greater the competition due to business owners competing for profits, customers, suppliers, and buyers. Low rivalry

- competition increases the profitability of the business industry.
- B. The threat of substitute products. The greater the ability for customers to substitute goods or service the greater the competition. The more difficult it is for customers to substitute products the less competition resulting in higher potential business profit. Business owners must limit the ability or willingness of customers to substitute goods of service by establishing product or service differentiation to remain profitable.
- C. Bargaining power of buyers. The degree in which buyers influence prices impacts the attractiveness of the business industry. The more control buyers have on the capacity to demand a better quality of goods or services at a lower price, the less attractive the sector due to lower profit.
- D. Bargaining power of suppliers. Suppliers provide business owners with raw materials to produce a product or service. The stronger suppliers bargaining power, the greater the control suppliers have on price setting, which makes for a less attractive business industry.
- E. The threat of new entrants. Low barriers of entry into the business industry attract the desire and capacity of new business owners to gain market share, resulting in increased competition.

Porter established that the level of influence each force has on the performance and growth of a business industry differs as one or more competitive forces can significantly influence the degree of competition and profit in a business industry (Omsa et al., 2017). The stronger the competitive forces in a business industry, the less profitable

the industry is, resulting in a less attractive business industry (Saloi & Barman, 2020). Business owners use Porter's five forces model and analyze the intensity of competition to develop and implement strategies to leverage the competition within a business industry (Goyal, 2020). By monitoring and examining the competitive external challenges that the five forces impose on a business industry, business owners can compare and develop strategies to improve their competitive position and profitability (Saloi & Barman, 2020).

In applying Porter's five forces analysis, business owners can identify, evaluate and compare key competitive factors that influence their business performance and market growth within an industry (Kibaara & Mote, 2020). Because competition exists in any business industry, business owners can apply Porter's five forces analysis as a tool to categorize and analyze the degree of five critical environmental factors that influence and shape competition and profit within a business industry (Kibaara & Mote, 2020). Business owners' focus on Porter's five forces analysis differs within various industries based on the degree of impact each force has on a specific industry (Shokeen, 2016). Ayanbadejo (2020) applied Porter's five forces analysis to identify the competitive position of the cinemas industry due to the COVID-19 crisis and lockdown. Since COVID-19 and government lockdown, cinemas operating in the cinemas industry have been negatively affected by a high degree of substitute products, buyer bargaining power, and rivalry competition resulting in a significant decline in consumer demand and profit (Ayanbadejo, 2020).

Wonginchan and Promphakping (2018) showed bargaining power, rivalry

competition, and the threat of substitute products and services as significantly influencing the internet industry and competitive performance of 35 small internet businesses in Northeastern. Ogbadu et al. (2017) used Porter's five forces analysis to identify forces that affected SMEs operating within four sectors in Nigeria and implemented competitive strategies, such as low-price strategy and new product introduction strategy to achieve favorable performance outcomes. Entrepreneurs must understand the industry dynamics and market expectations to assess current and future adaptive capability and performance (Eshima & Anderson, 2017).

Once business leaders analyze Porter's five forces and the severity level of each force identified, business leaders can assess their business structure, competitive position, and opportunities (Ulubeyli, 2017). Michael Porter developed Porter's five forces analysis as a tool in which five competitive forces determine the profitability of an industry and shape a business's competitive position (González-Rodríguez et al., 2018). By using Porter's five forces analysis, owners and business managers can maintain awareness and understand industry structure, critical influencing forces, and the business's current market and competitive position so that they can take appropriate actions (Ulubeyli, 2017).

A literature review conducted by researchers showed that Porter's five forces were an effective model for analyzing the competitive environment as entrepreneurs and business managers focus on gaining or sustaining competitive advantage within an industry (Aithal, 2017). Porter's five forces assist business owners in focusing on choosing a direction that shifts the competitive forces within the business to achieve

favorable outcomes, market share, and sustainability from competitive pressures created by other business owners (Aithal, 2017). Porter's forces analysis is a framework in which individuals operating a business can analyze and categorize the most important forces affecting the intensity of competition and profitability level in an industry (Oliveira & Oliveira, 2018).

Regardless of the industry size, competition has a considerable influence on businesses' performance, growth, and sustainability due to companies competing for customers, suppliers, profits, products, and services (Fernández et al., 2019). Porter's five force analysis is a relevant tool for business owners to conduct industry analysis to determine business profitability and competitive advantage (Adelakun, 2020). The rivalry of competition, the threat of product substitutes, new entrants, and the bargaining power of buyers and suppliers continue to be critical factors for business growth, sustainability, and profit in any industry (Adelakun, 2020). The forces of competitive strategy are changing, and sustainability drivers for many of these changes (Aithal, 2017). Business owners can no longer afford to ignore the link between sustainability performance and the market's competitive landscape. The use of Porter's five forces shows that today's businesses are capturing value and creating competitive advantages by accounting for and managing sustainability risks and opportunities. For a business to be successful, owners should focus on the strategic position of their business in a competitive market (Aithal, 2017).

Business owners' and managers' knowledge of their competitive business position can enable them to implement strategic plans to maintain or improve their current

position within the industry (Dang & Yeo, 2017). Therefore, understanding the competitive position of an organization and its rivals is critical for small business owners sustainability (Dang & Yeo, 2017). Small business owners can apply Porter's five forces analysis to identify five forces in the external environment that challenges and affects their business' competitive position and implement strategies to improve or maximize their competitive position within the industry (Pervan et al., 2018). The level of influence that each of Porter's five external factors has on businesses within an industry can vary (Pervan et al., 2018). Due to the variances in the degree of influence, each factor presents, it is essential that business owners continuously monitor changes in the five forces and adjust their business strategies to maintain success and increase profit (Vlados & Chatzinikolaou, 2019). The structural analysis of Porter's five forces can provide small businesses with a mechanism for monitoring five critical external elements that influence a business's growth and sustainability (Vlados & Chatzinikolaou, 2019).

Leveraging competition and firm performance are essential for businesses' sustainability (Pan et al., 2017). Leveraging competition to improve business performance requires business owners to analyze and adapt to market trends (Eshima & Anderson, 2017). Small business owners' growth and sustainability are dependent on small business owners' capability to respond and adapt to changes within the businesses market industry (Eshima & Anderson, 2017). Porter's five forces analysis is a widely used theory by business proprietors for analyzing trends within a business industry in which business owners can implement business strategies to leverage competition over their competitors (Pan et al., 2017). In 2020, Hou et al. used Porter's five forces analysis

to study the competitiveness of dispersed energy resources in China. By applying Porter's five forces analysis, Hou et al. (2020) identified rivalry of competition and the bargaining power of buyers and suppliers to be the strongest of the five forces in the natural gas industry.

Rivalry of Competition

Rivalry competition is considered the strongest of Porter's five force analysis by business scholars (Yiannakopoulos et al., 2017). As such, business owners should conduct in-depth analysis to identify the opportunities and threats in the external environment and formulate strategies to enable business owners to outperform their rivals (Yiannakopoulos et al., 2017). Porter (2008) posited that rivalry competition measures the intensity of competition among existing businesses to pressure and limit each business's profit and market position within an industry. The rivalry of competition influences a business owner's performance based on existing competitors' ability to change the business industry (González-Rodríguez et al., 2018). The more significant the number of competitors and the number of equivalent products and services offered, the more intense the competition (Mas-Ruiz & Ruiz-Moreno, 2017). Also, the intensity of competition is high when businesses are equal in size and power (González-Rodríguez et al., 2018).

Businesses with multiple competitors should take competitive action to address external pressure to increase profit and market growth. However, not all business owners are equally able to use competitive actions to drive growth (Yang & Meyer, 2018). When applying Porter's five forces analysis to examine the structural environment of an

industry, the degree of competitive rivalry among existing businesses is one of the factors business owners should consider (Ghosh et al., 2016). The low intensity of competitive rivalry within an industry increases profit potential and market growth for existing businesses competing within that industry (Takata, 2016). In comparison, the high intensity of rivalry within an industry decreases profit potential and growth for existing businesses competing within that industry (Gosh et al., 2016).

The intensity of rivalry among existing businesses increases when there are similar brands, a lack of product or service differentiation, low industry growth, equally balanced businesses, diverse competitors, and a high risk of industry exit (Berendt et al., 2018). During periods of aggressive rivalry competition, successful businesses focus on distinctive brand and consumer group strategies to reduce competitors' market growth and sustainability potentially (Berendt et al., 2018). To support their success, successful companies should practice aggressive and deterrent competitive actions (Hughes-Morgan et al., 2018). Most business rivalries, specifically global SMEs, focus on their competitors' network position to strategize their future market position among competing businesses (Medlin & Ellegaard, 2015). Intense rivalry competition results in competitors using resources such as advertising, product innovation, technology, more attractive consumer services, and price competition to increase their competitive advantage (Medlin & Ellegaard, 2015).

Considering Porter's competitive rivalry force can assist business owners in using resources and implement strategic plans that will provide them with a competitive advantage (Ghosh et al., 2016). The ability of a business owner to identify and develop an

understanding of the intensity of rivalry competition is essential when analyzing the structural environment of an industry, so the business owner can implement competitive strategies to position the business to outperform its competition in profitability and sustainability (Choge et al., 2018). A study conducted by Kharub and Sharma (2017) indicated that rivalry competition was a critical determinant that affected small and medium enterprises' competitive advantage. By understanding and comparing rival businesses' essential strengths and weaknesses, a business owner can develop and implement strategies to influence the nature of competition in a more favorable direction (Choge et al., 2018).

Restaurants operating in the United States are subject to a high level of competition (Hallak et al., 2018). As a result, restaurant businesses should identify and analyze competitors in the market environment so managers can adjust strategies to achieve sustainable competitive advantage and enhance profit within the restaurant industry (Hallak et al., 2018Lee). Rua et al. (2018) defined competitive advantage as the leverage of power a business owner must influence the business performance of competitors through market growth and competitive strategy.

Competitive rivalry force enables a business manager to create and sustain competitive advantage and firm performance (González-Rodríguez et al., 2018). A study of 339 small and medium Spanish wine businesses by Lorenzo et al. (2018) showed that managers analyzed and compared competitors' current market positions to implement competitive advantage strategies to improve business performance and sustainability. The power of business owners within a business industry to limit their competitors' power to

increase or sustain market growth and profit results in competitive advantage (Lee et al., 2015).

Business owners should maintain awareness and respond appropriately to competition to hold a competitive advantage over rival competition (Gao et al., 2017). Depending on the degree of competition, business owners and managers must decide what competitive action or behavior to sustain or improve the business's competitive position (Gao et al., 2017). Rivalry competition influences the level of risk business owners and managers are willing to take to improve business performance (To et al., 2018). Business owners and managers must focus on rival competition to respond appropriately to competitors who are motivated to influence market position through price competition, product and service differentiation, advertising campaigns, product innovation, advanced technology, merger, or acquisition (Uhlenbruck et al., 2017).

Identifying and understanding rivalry competition assists businesses in implementing strategies to increase or sustain competitive advantages based on competitive boundaries, customer preferences, and changes in the industry (Gur & Greckhamer, 2018). Rivalry competition develops naturally between companies in the same market as they compete for geographic, customer, and product markets, resulting in competitive behavior (Gur & Greckhamer, 2018). Business owners who demonstrate aggressive rivalry competition can potentially result in aggressive practices such as mergers and acquisitions (Uhlenbruck et al., 2017). Business managers and entrepreneurs need to analyze rival competitors' positions related to industry-orientated, strategic groups—oriented, manager-oriented, and customer-oriented and respond strategically (Gur

& Greckhamer, 2018). Lack of focus and a competitive strategy in a highly competitive industry can be detrimental to small businesses competing within an industry (Uhlenbruck et al., 2017). Due to the elevated level of competition within the restaurant industry, restaurant owners need to identify their key competitors (Gao et al., 2018).

Small restaurant owners must identify their competitors' strengths and weaknesses for them to offer competitive products and services (Gao et al., 2018).

The Threat of Substitute Products

According to Porter's five forces, the threat of substitutes of products and services in any industry is a significant concern for a business when competitors can successfully attract consumers to switch products or services (Mugo, 2020). Business owners increase the threat of substitutes when consumers see the value of switching a service product due to cost savings, minimal brand loyalty, quality, and performance (Mugo, 2020). Several businesses in India were affected by the wind power industry offering coal-fired power energy as a substitute product for wind power energy (Irfan et al., 2019). A study conducted by Irfan et al. (2019) showed that businesses' ability to offer coal-fired energy as a substitute product at a lower cost with greater efficiency in the wind industry significantly affected profitability and competitive advantage. Mugo (2020) used Porter's five forces analysis to explore the influence each of the five forces had on the telecommunication industry in Kenya. Mugo (2020) showed that businesses operating in telecommunication were significantly affected by the high level of substitute products that affected competitive advantage, profit, and sustainability.

The threat of substitute products is critical for business owners to consider when

analyzing an industry's external environment (Vlados & Chatzinikolaou, 2019). Business owners' ability to offer substitute products and services can affect other businesses' competitive structure of an industry if many consumers choose to buy the substitute products or services (Goyal, 2020). The availability of close substitute products can increase an industry's competition, resulting in a decrease in profit and sustainability for business owners in the industry (Goyal, 2020). The restaurant industry offers various food products and services that make it sufficient for restaurant business owners to offer comparable products and services to customers (Enthoven & Brouwer, 2019). If businesses in an industry fail to differentiate themselves from substitutes through product performance, marketing, brand loyalty, or other means, they will suffer profitability and growth potential (Enthoven & Brouwer, 2019).

The greater the capacity for business owners can offer quality products and services to consumers with similar benefits at lower costs, the greater the influence on other business owners' profit and sustainability in the industry (Vlados & Chatzinikolaou, 2019). The threat of substitution products or services is high when rivals or businesses outside the industry create consumer value by offing a similar product or service (Vlados & Chatzinikolaou, 2019). The fewer opportunities customers have to substitute products or services, the greater the business owner's ability to achieve product sustainability (Vlados & Chatzinikolaou, 2019). The ability of other businesses to offer substitute products increases the need for business owners to focus on product differentiation to limit consumers' feasibility of switching to comparable products or services (Pervan et al., 2018).

Moreover, businesses can increase the threat of substitutes when consumers see the value of switching a product or service due to cost savings, little brand loyalty, quality, and performance (Enthoven & Brouwer, 2019). Most retail businesses applied Porter's threat of substitute analysis and determined consumers online shopping has substituted consumers shopping in stores due to the COVID-19 pandemic resulting in the government requiring lockdowns and social distances in the retail industry (Sheth, 2020). Due to lockdowns and social distancing because of the COVID-19 pandemic, many consumers have substituted online shopping services instead of traveling to physical businesses (Sheth, 2020).

Bargaining Power of Suppliers

In industry analysis, suppliers provide a product or service to buyers (Taherdoost & Brard, 2019). Suppliers can increase competition and affect the profit of businesses in an industry by increasing the bargaining power of suppliers through increased pricing, product differentiation, and supply availability and delivery (Taherdoost & Brard, 2019). According to Porter's five forces analysis, suppliers' bargaining power is high when suppliers can control businesses' products and services related to the cost of switching, availability and delivery, and differentiation (Zainal-Abidin & Mohd-Roslin, 2020).

Hobbs (2019) conducted a study on the increase in suppliers' bargaining power in the food chain industry to the COVID-19 pandemic in which the increased buyer demand for specific products and services has resulted in product and service shortages.

According to Hobbs (2019), government regulations on price increases, consumers' ability to substitute, and low brand loyalty have limited bargaining power of suppliers in

the food chain industry are limited in their bargaining power due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The COVID-19 pandemic has decreased suppliers' bargaining power in the retail and restaurant industry due to increased consumers' online shopping and home food consumption (Strange, 2020).

Bargaining Power of Buyers

Porter's five forces analysis includes buyers' bargaining powers as a competitive force in the industry due to buyers' capability to influence businesses' profitability (Zhang et al., 2018). The more options buyers have to choose from products or services, the more influence the buyers have on the prices businesses owners charge for their products and services (Zhang et al., 2018). The bargaining power of buyers is high if a significant number of buyers exist in an industry and the feasibility to switch products or services exists due to price sensitivity or limited to no product differentiation. The bargaining power of buyers is the degree of influence buyers or customers have on the businesses to offer lower prices or improved quality of products or services (Mondliwa et al., 2019). Business owners were affected by buyers' ability to influence the value or cost of products or services offered within an industry (Mondliwa et al., 2019). Maharani (2020) posited that based on Porter's five forces analysis, buyers' bargaining power in the healthy catering industry is high due to the number of buyers influencing the sellers' pricing. According to Chen (2019), retail buyers can increase the bargaining power of buyers by due decreasing the bargaining power of suppliers.

A decrease in retail suppliers' ability to offer product differentiation or innovation can increase the products offered to buyers (Chen, 2019). A study conducted by Chelsula

and Kiriinya (2018) showed that customers in the telecommunications industry used cost switching and quality products as bargaining buyer power to create competition in the price cost of products and services among telecommunication businesses. A key determinant of businesses' sustainability is business owners' ability to reduce the power of buyers' influence to increase competition in an industry by influencing the cost of products and services, resulting in a decrease in business profitability (Chelsula & Kiriinya, 2018).

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, buyers' bargaining power to increase online shopping has decreased in-store shopping, which has resulted in an increased competition of businesses supplying online shopping products, services, and pricing (Sofyan & Fantini, 2021). The results of a study by Sofyan and Fantini (2021) showed that the bargaining power of buyers had influenced competition among small and medium businesses in Magetan Regency that functioned in a similar industry due to challenges with the COVID-19 pandemic.

Bargaining Power of Suppliers

In industry analysis, suppliers provide a product or service to buyers (Taherdoost & Brard, 2019). Suppliers can increase competition and affect the profit of businesses in an industry by increasing suppliers' bargaining power through increased pricing, product differentiation, and supply availability and delivery (Taherdoost & Brard, 2019). According to Porter's five forces analysis, suppliers' bargaining power is high when suppliers can control businesses' products and services related to the cost of switching, availability and delivery, and differentiation (Zainal-Abidin & Mohd-Roslin, 2020).

Hobbs (2019) conducted a study on the increase in suppliers' bargaining power in the food chain industry due to the COVID-19 pandemic, which resulted in the increased buyer demand for specific products and services, resulting in product and service shortages. In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic limited the bargaining power of suppliers in the food chain industry due to government regulations on price increases, consumers' ability to substitute, and low brand loyalty limited in their bargaining power (Hobbs, 2019). The COVID-19 pandemic has decreased suppliers' bargaining power in the retail and restaurant industry due to increased consumers' online shopping and home food consumption (Strange, 2020).

The Threat of New Entrants

The threat of new entrants in an industry occurs when business owners are attracted to industry profitability, low entry barriers, and economic value (MacDonald & Ryall, 2018). The threat of new entrants can also occur through mergers, acquisitions, innovation, and modern technology, which affect the level of competition and sustainability of existing businesses (MacDonald & Ryall, 2018). According to Porter's five forces analysis, a high threat of new entrants in an industry can increase competition and decrease the profit capability of existing competitors (Mehjabeen, 2018). A low threat of new entrants makes an industry less competitive and increases the profit potential for the existing firms.

Porter's analysis **of** the threat of new entrants provides business owners insight into how likely new entrants will enter the industry (Mehjabeen, 2018). In the Smartphone industry, the threat of new entrants is high due to increased consumer

demand for smartphones in Bangladesh (Rahman, 2019). Mehjabeen (2018) applied Porter's five force analysis which showed a high threat of new entrants in the Bangladesh Bank due to the growth of mobile banking, e-commerce, low bargaining power of buyers, and low banking deposit cost.

Competitive Advantage

Competitive advantage is a business owner's ability to implement strategies that enable the business to outperform its competitors (Wu et al., 2017). Recently business industries have experienced increased competition due to health and humanitarian crises, government regulations, and sanctions because of the COVID-19 pandemic (Bartik et al., 2020). A business can achieve a competitive advantage within an industry by increasing customer value (Moses & Osunsan, 2018). Business owners who focus on achieving a competitive advantage over their competitors can generate excessive profit and position the business to achieve sustainability and market growth (Wu et al., 2017). Regardless of the size of a business, business owners should focus on implementing competitive advantage strategies such as product innovation, customer loyalty, and product or cost differentiation to remain competitive and achieve sustainability (Moses & Osunsan, 2018). Achieving a competitive advantage can be essential for business owners to measure performance (Moses & Osunsan, 2018).

Business owners' ability to analyze their competition is one of the best ways to show opportunities and threats related to achieving a competitive advantage. Abdolshah et al. (2018) conducted a study using Porter's identified three generic strategies, product differentiation, cost reduction, and focus on competitors, in which results showed that

implementing the strategies increased competitive advantage. Small family business owners can potentially increase their competitive advantage over their competitors by creating customer shared value (Nishioka et al., 2018). Results of a study conducted by D'Souza and Taghian (2018) showed the importance of small businesses focusing on competitive advantage by implementing environmental sustainability practices.

Small business owners who maintain an awareness and understanding of their competitive environment can implement strategies that achieve and sustain competitive advantage by offering products and services that add to customer value (Kuncoro & Suriani, 2018). Business owners of all sizes compete with rivalries for market share and should prepare to achieve sustainable competitive advantage by offering innovative products and services that create customer value (Kuncoro & Suriani, 2018). Small businesses can achieve competitive advantages by focusing on environmental sustainability, in which small businesses offer competitive pricing and price differentiation (Walsh & Dodds, 2017). The importance of business owners creating and setting up strategies to achieve competitive advantage has influenced Ibrid Al-Razi Pharmacies operating in the E-marketing to focus on cost leadership, focus, and differentiation (Obeidat, 2021).

Business Models

Over the years, business models have increased focus by business theorists and other business practitioners, as the models provide businesses with a concept and roadmap on how companies create value, profit, and sustainability within a business industry (Lüdeke-Freund & Dembek, 2017). Business practitioners and leaders widely

use business models within the business industry, but the ambiguity of providing a standard business model definition exists (Lüdeke-Freund & Dembek, 2017). According to Climent and Haftor (2021), a business model is a systematic plan established to provide business owners with a decision-making process to generate customer value, profit, competitive advantage, and sustainability. Teece (2018) defined a business model as a framework for businesses to leverage capabilities with customer demands to create value and sustainability based on actions. For this study, a business model is a business leader's concept or framework for making universal decisions that contribute to value creation and competitive advantage (Geissdoerfer et al., 2018).

Businesses can use business models to create and develop customer value through the sale of products and services or as a conceptual tool for companies to apply to maintain sustainability and competitive advantage (Geissdoerfer et al., 2018). Kim et al. (2021) postulated that business models serve as a tool for business owners to improve business efficiency. Following the COVID-19 pandemic and government restrictions, small restaurant business owners used a formulated business model to identify critical factors that affected restaurant business owners' sustainability and strategies to improve sustainability (Kim et al., 2021). Business owners need to develop strategic plans and innovation to identify current and future business trends that influence a business's stainability resulted in the evolution of business models (Gorevaya & Khayrullina, 2015). A study by Pedersen et al. (2018) showed that the implementation of business models provided business leaders with the concept for achieving sustainability, improved performance, and added value.

When fundamental forces influence the value of a business or industry, business owners must be able to use a business model to adapt to the new dynamics of the business environment (Hacklin et al., 2018). A literature review conducted by Wirtz et al. (2016) showed that business models are an essential tool for assisting business owners with aligning value business activities to market information, innovation, and products and services to achieve competitive advantage within the industry. As a result, business owners may adopt or integrate differing business models to develop and implement strategies to achieve sustainability, market growth, and competitive advantage within an industry (Hacklin et al., 2018).

Business models are an essential for assisting businesses in achieving sustainability (Coenz et al., 2020). Business models provide a systematic method in which business owners operate their businesses to achieve sufficiency in value creation, business adequacy, and sustainability (Cosenz et al., 2020). Business owners can achieve sustainability and competitive advantage by focusing on gaps in environmental, social, and economic drivers of value creation within the business and developing a dynamic business model to improve and maintain shortcomings (Cosenz, 2020). The theoretical concept of business models provides a tool for business owners to implement operational and value configuration strategies to control the customer base and adapt to environmental changes, product and service offerings, and resource appropriation mechanisms (Fjeldstad & Snow, 2018). Business models provide entrepreneurs with a process for implementing a plan to optimize their efficiency to achieve a competitive advantage, value proposition, market growth, and sustainability (Bocken & Short, 2016).

Theorists and researchers have formulated various business models to help business owners and leaders analyze the competitive environment to identify factors that may influence their proficiency (Teece, 2018). Several business models are available for business owners (Long et al., 2018). In addition to Porter's five forces analysis, other commonly used business models that assist business owners in analyzing business and industry environment to achieve sustainability are the resource-based view (RBV), pestle, and swot (Long et al., 2018).

Resource Based-Value Model

The Resource based value (RBV) model enables businesses to utilize their resources to strategically achieve competitive advantage and sustainability (Khan et al., 2018). Wernerfelt developed the resource-based view model in the 1980s (Ayuso & Navarrete-Báez, 2018). Wernerfelt conceptualized that a business should focus on implementing strategies to achieve sustainability and competitive advantage by analyzing and using the internal resources and capabilities of a business instead of focusing on analyzing the competitive environment (Ayuso & Navarrete-Báez, 2018).

According to RBV, not all the resources of a firm will be strategic resources.

Business owners' capability to maximize internal resources can determine business sustainability (Khan et al., 2018). The result of a study conducted by Khan et al. (2018) showed that SMEs could achieve positive performance and sustainability by applying strategies from the RBV model. Although RBV is a widely used model, critics theorize that the RBV model does not allow business leaders to consider external factors that influence the business environment (Torres et al., 2018). Therefore, business owners who

use RBV Model may fail to consider critical external factors, such as customers and market trends. The literature review by Torres et al. (2018) explained the importance of businesses implementing sustainability strategies to address the external environment.

The PESTLE Model

The PESTLE model enables businesses to develop and implement competitive strategies to achieve sustainability based on external factors that influence consumer behavior, such as environmental analysis of political, economic, social, technological, and economic (Dalirazar et al., 2020). PESTLE is an acronym for political, economic, social, technological, legal, and environmental, which Francis Aguilar considered vital influencers of business sustainability and market position (Dalirazar et al., 2020). The PESTLE model allows businesses to implement strategies to achieve competitive advantage and sustainability based on business owners understanding and managing six macro-environmental factors that influence businesses' processes (Aziri & Ismail, 2020). Porter's five forces model is a resource for businesses to achieve competitive advantage and sustainability based on business owners' ability to identify and leverage strengths and weaknesses of five critical external factors that affect the businesses' industry environment (Aziri & Ismail, 2020).

SWOT Model

Albert Humphrey formulated the swot business Model in the 1960s. SWOT is the acronym for strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats that affect a business (Phadermrod et al., 2019). A significant advantage of the swot model is that it enables business practitioners to implement strategies to achieve sustainability based on internal

and external business environments (Phadermrod et al., 2019). Unlike Porter's five forces model, the swot model contains resources for businesses to analyze internal and external business environments (Zhao et al., 2016). In applying the swot model, business practitioners provide subjective information by conducting brainstorming to identify strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats and not prioritize issues or offer solutions that may limit business relevance due to subjective information (Phadermrod et al., 2019). The swot model allows business owners to analyze their business position from a macroenvironment (Birru et al., 2022). Business owners use Porter's five forces to analyze their business's microenvironment (Birru et al., 2022).

General Overview of Small Businesses

Some governments and researchers classify a small business according to the number of employees or average annual revenue (SBA, 2018). However, the definition of a small business differs from a global perspective (Page & Söderbom, 2015). The U.S. Small Business Administration defines a small business as a firm comprised of less than 500 employees (SBA, 2019). European countries define a small business as a firm with 50 to 250 employees, while the International Chamber of Commerce (ICC) defines a small business consisting of 100 to 200 employees (Page & Söderbom, 2015). For this study, the definition of small business is a business consisting of less than 50 employees.

Small business owners are significant contributors to economic growth and employment across the nation (Karadag, 2015). In most countries, small and medium businesses were significant contributors to Gross Domestic Product (GDPs), contrary to business challenges (Opinya, 2015). In the United States, small businesses contributed to

more than 50% of economic and employment growth (SBA, 2015). In Kenya, a low-income country, small businesses contributed to 75% of overall employment (Opinya, 2015). Small business owners supply more job opportunities but experienced a lower success rate than larger businesses (Page & Söderbom, 2015). Although small and medium businesses face many stainability challenges, small and medium businesses continue to contribute significantly to any country's economic growth and development (Coda, 2108).

Small business owners have been responsible for economic growth since the 1980s resulting in increased economic growth, competition, and innovation (Ribeiro-Soriano, 2017). According to SBA (2018), in 2015, small businesses employed 58.9 million people, in which most small business owners with less than 20 employees experienced the greatest increase. Small business owners contribute to the development of larger businesses. In 1964 Bill Bowerman and Phil Knight started Nike as a small business that became one of the largest shoe corporations (Childs & Jin, 2018). Pappas Restaurant, Inc. is a family-owned restaurant that has grown to become one most successful restaurant groups in the Southwest Region. Most small business owners experience challenges with achieving sustainability due to insufficiency in establishing or maintaining a competitive advantage (Barbosa, 2020). Due to the significant contributions of small and medium businesses, governments worldwide are focusing on strategies to increase sustainability for small and medium businesses (Ndiaye et al., 2018).

Small Restaurant Businesses

Small restaurant business owners are key contributors to economic growth and development within the United States (Hallak et al., 2018). Small and medium restaurant entrepreneurs positively contributed to the performance of the restaurant industry through product and market innovation (Lee et al., 2016). The National Restaurant Association (2017) forecasted that restaurant industry sales would net \$799 billion in sales, in which nine out of 10 would have fewer than 50 employees. According to the Small Business Administration (2015), nine out of 10 restaurant owners are small business owners, and 50% of small businesses fail within the first 5 years. As a result, some small restaurant business owners are subject to fail within the first 5 years.

The National Restaurant Association (2015) reported that 60% of small restaurants fail within 1 year, and 80% go under 5 years. Potential small restaurant owners do not realize the specific set of performance demands that evolve from owning and managing a restaurant (Lee et al., 2015). One of the primary reasons for the failure of small restaurant businesses is the owners' need for a comprehensive strategic plan. Small business owners should develop and implement a strategic plan that includes market research, analysis of competitors and customers, and realistic budget projection (Parsa et al., 2015). The National Restaurant Association (2016) reported that the restaurant industry is the second largest private sector in the nation in which economic growth, retention of human capital, easy entry and exit barriers, market growth, technology, and high buyer power are important environmental challenges that influence restaurant owners' sustainability. To achieve sustainability, some small restaurant business owners

focused on proactive sustainability practices and environmental, marketing, and management strategies to strengthen their competitiveness within the restaurant industry (Alonso-Almeida et al., 2018).

Small restaurant owners should develop and implement strategies to resolve environmental challenges. A strategic plan is a systematic process for a business leader to analyze internal and external factors that affect the competitive business position and develop goals to achieve or sustain business competitiveness (Demir, 2017). Due to the highly competitive environment, small restaurant owners should implement a strategic plan to achieve and sustain a competitive advantage (Jogaratnam, 2018).

The environment in which owners of small restaurant businesses function can determine the businesses success (Franca et al., 2016). Franca et al. (2016) defined success as the awareness and implementation of business practices that support positive business performance resulting in business sustainability beyond 5 years. Some attributes of the competitive environment that can influence small restaurant owners' success are demographic location, growth rate, and product differentiation in the restaurant industry (Neyoy et al., 2017). To be successful, small restaurant business owners must implement strategies to leverage resource capacity to achieve a performance level that enables positional advantage and competition sustainability in the restaurant industry (Jogaratnam, 2017).

Most small family restaurant owners take on small business managers who set up, own, and function as a manager of the business operations (Ikemefuna & Enoch, 2016).

Small family restaurant owners find the restaurant industry challenging due to the

elevated competition resulting from low entry and exit barriers, a considerable number of product and supplier substitutes, and existing competition (Ikemefuna & Enoch, 2016). Mun and Jang (2015) posted that restaurant owners challenges with limited resources and increased competition resulting in decreased capital and lowered operational performance. As a result, some small family restaurant owners focus on developing strategies to gain a competitive advantage in the restaurant industry due to aggressive market competition and limited resources (Ikemefuna & Enoch, 2016).

Perceived Small Business Success

Business researchers have provided different definitions of success; for example, Eshima and Anderson (2017) defined success as a business owner's ability to formulate an understanding of market industry dynamics and apply adaptive capabilities to achieve growth and sustainability. According to Eshima and Anderson (2017), success is the ability of business owners to adapt to changes in the market industry, resulting in increased revenue, market growth, and sustainability. Business scholars and owners view success as a business owner's ability to manage internal or external factors that directly influence the business owner's current and future activities to support sustainability (Aschemann-Witzel et al., 2017). Some business owners and practitioners use various business models, such as Porter's five forces, pestle, and swot analysis to identify key determinants which influence the business success (Aschemann-Witzel et al., 2017).

Porter's five forces model is an influential tool for identifying five critical competitive factors (threat of new entrants, threat of substitutes, bargaining power of customers, bargaining power of suppliers, and competitive rivalry) that influence the

business success (Aschemann-Witzel et al., 2017). The PESTLE model serves as a resource to achieve success by analyzing six key internal factors (Political, economic, social, technological, legal, and environmental) that affect the success (Kabakova & Plaksenko, 2018). Business owners-managers can apply the swot model to detect key factors that influence strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats (Aschemann-Witzel et al., 2017). Based on the broad definition of success and for this study, success is the awareness and implementation of business strategies that support positive business performance resulting in business sustainability beyond five years (França et al., 2016).

Globally small businesses are major contributors to economic growth in established and developing countries (Sadegh, 2018). However, some small business owners fail to achieve sustainability beyond 5 years (França et al., 2016). Small business owners play a vital role in the success of their businesses (Amato et al., 2017). As a result, small business owners should develop an understanding and awareness of how achieving a competitive advantage contributes to sustainability (Amato et al., 2017). Some small restaurant owners identified that achieving awareness and focusing on innovation, product value, debt, and business age as key determinants significantly influenced small businesses' competitive position and success (Felix & Dos Santos, 2018). Other small business owners focused on using knowledge management to achieve success by increasing their competitive advantage and simplifing business procedures and operations (Wang & Yang, 2016).

Competitive advantage, social responsibility, and the internal environment are essential success factors for small businesses (Campbell & Park, 2017). Small business

owners achieve success by implementing strategies to manage the internal environment, competitive advantage, and social responsibility (Campbell & Park, 2017). An essential factor that contributes to the success of any size business is a business owner having a short term strategic plan of 1 to 5 years and a long term strategic plan of 5 plus years in which the business owner implements strategies to identify and monitor essential environmental factors and establish goals to manage those factors (Demir 2017). A strategic plan provides a systematic process to achieve success whereby owners analyze environmental factors and develop goals to achieve or sustain business competitiveness (Demir, 2017).

Small business entrepreneurs' ability to manage internal resources, such as business competency and technology practices, is critical to the success of a small business (Mohamad et al., 2017). Due to limited resources, the success of small business owners relies heavily on the owners being competent in managing critical factors such as human capital, business acumen, finances, product and service, innovation, skills, business reputation, and technology resources to provide competitive advantage resulting in business success (Mohamad et al., 2017). Other small business owners implement strategies to adapt to innovation and external factors, such as changes in the market, customers, suppliers, industry, competition, regulations, and economics, as key determinants of success. A study conducted by Distanont and Khongmalai (2018) showed that small businesses' main contributing success factors were innovation, external environment, and competitive advantage.

Determining success factors will differ within small businesses due to small

business owners contrasting goals and motives for establishing their businesses (Mohamad Radzi et al., 2017). Some small business owners perceive focusing on using resources and finances to achieve efficiency in competition, customers, and market, resulting in business success (Eltahir, 2018). Other small business owners perceive that establishing strategies to attain competitive advantage to improve efficiency and differentiation contributes to a successful business (Sun & Lee, 2019).

Additionally, Cater and Young (2016) identified vision, strategic planning, family dynamics and disposition, development of successors, conflict management, social responsibility, and willingness to take risks as essential factors that contribute to the success of small family businesses. Some small restaurant business owners define success as the consumers' knowledge and evaluation of a business's product and service, and business owners' creation of a clear vision (Naderi et al., 2018). Small business owners' ability to implement competitive advantage strategies helps them outperform their competition, resulting in success within a business industry (Sun & Lee, 2019).

Perceived Small Business Failure

Business practitioners' definition of business failure ranges from a narrow to broad scope (Khelil, 2016). Despite the significance of understanding the concept of business failure, business owners and practitioners lack a clear definition of business failure (Jenkins & McKelvie, 2016). The concept of business failure can range from one to several dimensions that can result in business owners ceasing to operate (Dias & Teixeira, 2017). The failure of a business may be the voluntary or involuntary cessation of business owners' operations due to closure or bankruptcy (Khelil, 2016). Business

owners' lack of knowledge and skills to manage resources can result in business failure (Jenkins & McKelvie, 2016). Subsequentially, business failure can be attributed to business owners' decreased finances and increased expenses or subjective criteria, for example, a business owner's assessment of business underperforming based on goal as contributing factors in business failure (Jenkins & McKelvie, 2016).

Business scholars' inability to establish a standard definition of business failure makes defining small business failure a complex concept to define (Hyder & Lussier, 2016). Hyder and Lussier (2016) concluded through examining 143 small businesses that lack of capital inflow, poor business planning, and inadequate staffing were contributory factors in the failure of small businesses. Dias and Teixeira (2017) conceptualized business failure as a business ceasing functioning due to underperformance in finances, growth or set expectations. Dias and Teixeira further suggested business failure was contingent on a business owner unwilling exiting the business industry due to reaching a tipping point.

Fernández-Olmos and Ramírez-Alesón (2017) identified key internal and external factors that contribute to the failure of small businesses, which include the economic environment, industry lifecycle, and the age of the business. Due to limited resources and business age, small businesses often find it challenging to address changes in the economic environment, for example, recessions, innovation, technology, government regulations and competition (Fernández-Olmos & Ramírez-Alesón, 2017). Small business failure rate of start-up and underdeveloped businesses is greater due to challenges of managing factors that impact on business viability, such as technology,

competition, innovations and changes in government regulations (Ramírez-Alesón, 2017). Business owners' inability to manage operational disruptions in the business cycle can fail (Wagner et al., 2017). A business cycle is defined as the current economic conditions of a state compared to output measures of the national economy, such as the Gross National Product and Consumer Index (Wager et al., 2017).

Byrne and Shepherd (2015) contributed small business failure resulting in an increase in expenses while there is a decrease in profits resulting in businesses incapable of drawing equity. Sallem et al. (2017) reported the failure of small businesses was due to inability to compete or sustain competitive advantage in the business industry. Other factors Sallem et al. identified as contributing to the failure of small businesses are (a) lack of accounting knowledge and standards to make sound financial decisions, (b) lack of information and communication technology resources to manage cash flow, business records, expenditures, customers, and suppliers, (c) limited financial resources to support internal environment, and (d) poor record keeping. Karadag (2015) theorized inadequate financial management knowledge, failure to develop a strategic plan, lack of business-related training, and inadequate managerial capabilities result in the failure of small businesses.

Putra and Cho (2019) postulated that small businesses are significant contributors to the economy in which small restaurant businesses contribute significantly to the U.S. economy. Small restaurant businesses are vulnerable to failure due to limited resources, poor leadership, and high employee turnover. Parsa et al. (2015) conducted a study on reasons small restaurant businesses fail. Results of Paras et al.'s study showed that

demographics and size were primary factors that resulted in the failure of small restaurant businesses. Khan et al. (2019) posited lack of managerial capabilities in a highly competitive environment will result in small business failure.

Sustainability

Sustainability is a broad concept for which researchers lack a standard definition (Moore et al., 2017). In a study conducted by Moore et al. (2017), the lack of a universal definition for sustainability was one of the significant challenges for researchers and business practitioners to understand how to address issues related to sustainability. Geissdoerfer et al. (2017) described sustainability as systematically balancing of internal and external economic, social, and environmental factors. For this study, sustainability is the ability or capacity to support short and long-term aspects by implementing strategies and business models to overcome environmental challenges (Gauthier, 2017). Business leaders have begun to focus more on the critical components of business sustainability (Panwar et al., 2015). As a result, leaders in business industries have shown an increased focus on sustainable trends and innovation practices due to challenges in consumer concerns, government regulations, climate change, technology revolution, and social responsibility.

Most small enterprises have shown a lack of focus on integrating sustainable strategic practices due to limited resources, lack of awareness and knowledge of sustainable management tools, and benefits of achieving social, environmental, and economic sustainability (Shields & Shelleman, 2015). Small businesses' history regarding sustainability showed that most small business owners engaged and implemented

strategic planning strategies for sustainability when faced with specific components of sustainability that influence businesses from a social, economic, or environmental perspective (Del Giudice et al., 2017). Jansson et al. (2017) posited that small business owners showed limited knowledge and usage of sustainability management tools compared to corporate businesses. In conclusion, the authors provided reasons why large businesses showed increased knowledge than SMEs (Jansson et al., 2017). According to Del Giudice et al. (2017), small business owners have demonstrated an increased focus on environmental sustainability due to external pressures, such as social, economic, and ecological conditions that influence SMEs' organizational-level sustainability.

Over the decades, increased trends in environmental, social, and economic factors, such as climate change, social and humanitarian issues, corporate social responsibility, health and safety, employee welfare, and consumer product and services concerns, have forced businesses of all sizes to include focusing social, environmental and economic factors on achieving sustainability (López-Pérez et al., 2017). Corporate social responsibility (CSR) concepts of social expectations and business relationships from the perspective of society, government, and humanitarian perspectives have prompted SMEs to focus on external sustainable innovation and practices (Adams et al., 2015). Trends in environmental, social, and economic factors have resulted in small businesses demonstrating an increased focus on implementing management tools to overcome operational barriers related to sustainable innovation and practices (Johnson and Schaltegger, 2016).

Also, environmental, social, and economic factors that influence sustainability

have resulted in small business owners focusing on social, environmental, and economic sustainability (Sealy, 2015). As a result, the need for small business owners to develop frameworks to improve knowledge and awareness, and achieve sustainability has increased (Seay, 2015). Some small business owners have faced challenges with limited resources and have implemented sustainability-oriented innovation practices to implement incremental changes in values, products, processes, and methods to achieve social, environmental, and economic sustainability (Adams et al., 2015).

However, literature review and strategic analysis of sustainability trends and innovation demonstrate that business leaders of a small, medium and large companies focus on maintaining existence, growth, and achieving success given challenges in internal and external environments (Jansson et al., 2017).

SMEs have explored the implementation of open innovation to remove challenges in achieving sustainability due to limited resources (Mennens et al., 2018). According to Ahn et al. (2015), business leaders apply open innovation as a systematic process for business leaders to use external and internal ideas to increase sustainability knowledge and performance. Mennens et al. (2018) identified SMEs integrated innovation with knowledge management as a conceptual tool for developing sustainability from attaining a competitive advantage based on service innovation. The integration of innovation and knowledge management provides a systematic process in which SME leaders use various technology, open communication, and human factors in developing products, services, and strategies that allow the leveraging of sustainability (Ahn et al., 2015).

Martinez-Conesa et al. (2017) conducted a study on SMEs to test the relationship

of SME leaders who used internal and external open innovative management tools and knowledge base management to achieve sustainability. Martinez-Conesa et al.'s (2017) study showed a positive correlation between the SMEs' usage of knowledge base management information technology-supported operations and commitment-based human resource practices to achieve sustainability. Some SME leaders used an interpretative structural model to achieve environmental sustainability, which consisted of business leaders identifying factors that influence economic sustainability (Martinez-Conesa et al., 2017). An in-depth literature review on the SMEs use of an interpretative framework to achieve environmental sustainability identified that there were four critical success factors for environmentally sustainable product innovation, which were market, knowledge of law and regulation, inter-functional collaboration, innovation-oriented learning, and investment in research and design (de Medeiros et al., 2014).

Schimmenti et al. (2016) conceptualized the importance of small businesses focusing on external sustainable practices, in which small business owners integrated social and environmental performance into products, processes, and organizational structures for sustainable practices. Schimmenti et al. (2016) explored the importance of sustainability by integrating social and environmental performance into the wine business. Schimmenti et al. (2016) study indicated that small business owners who integrated social and environmental performance into the business environment achieved sustainability. A study conducted by Seay (2015) showed the importance of incorporating sustainability practices and a value-added framework to engage business managers, shareholders, and other key stakeholders in the importance of sustainability for long-term

value.

The importance of sustainability has resulted in a trend in paradigm thinking of small business owners, as sustainable trends have transitioned from profit and growth focus to include an increased focus on indicators that influence social, environmental, and economic sustainability of business performance (Silvius & Planko, 2017). Small family business owners' focus on sustainability and environmental behavior might differ from other businesses to achieve socioeconomic wealth (Doluca et al., 2018). Doluca et al. (2018) conducted a study of family-owned and non-family-owned businesses regarding the level of focus on environment-related activities, innovation, and performance to achieve sustainability. Results showed family-owned businesses showed a minimal focus on responding to environment-related activities to achieve sustainability (Doluca et al., 2018). Small family business owners should focus on developing a clear understanding of environmental factors that influence their business sustainability (Wang, 2016).

Some SMEs challenged with limited resources have implemented sustainability oriented innovation practices, which have allowed SMEs to apply incremental changes in philosophy, values, products, processes, and methods to achieve social, environmental, and economic sustainability (Adams et al., 2015). Performance gaps significantly influenced small business owners' sustainability, in which a study indicated that the smaller the business, the larger the performance gaps (Boswell, 2014). Some small business owners experienced a 2½% dispersion in the rate of return. Sirén et al. (2012) selected a random sample of 153 small businesses located in Finnish to analyze business managers' processes and methods, standards, and routines that might improve the

exploitation of resources and benefits based on strategic planning and business performance, in which results indicated exploration of new businesses related to strategic plan but not related to business performance.

Transition

Section 1, I introduced the foundations of this study, which consisted of (a) problem statement, (b) purpose statement, (c) nature of the study, (d) research question, and (e) interview questions. Assumptions, limitations, and delimitations consisted of assumed facts assumed to be true, parameters not within my control and identified bounds of study. I concluded Section 1 with significance of the study and review of professional and academic literature. The review of academic literature consisted of a critical analysis and synthesis of conceptual theory and concept of study. In section 2, I re-introduced the purpose statement, discussed the role of the researcher, participants, and research method and design. In this section, I also included information on population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instrument, data collection techniques, data organization technique, data analysis, and reliability and validity of the study.

Section 2: The Project

Section 2 contained a detailed analysis of the research process. Specifically, I provided an in-depth analysis of (a) role of the researcher, (b) population sampling, and (c) ethical research. Ethical research included detailed information on the purpose of ethical research and participant consent form. Next, I described the data collection instrument, technique, and analysis. I concluded section 2 with a discussion of the reliability and validity of the study.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that some small family restaurant business owners use to achieve sustainability beyond 5 years. The target population consisted of five small family restaurant business owners in the southwest region of Texas who have implemented strategies to achieve sustainability beyond 5 years. This population was appropriate for this study because the restaurant industry is a critical economic driver in the southwest region of the United States (National Restaurant Association, 2017). The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that some small family restaurant business owners use to achieve sustainability beyond 5 years. The target population consisted of five small family restaurant business owners located in the southwest region of Texas, who have implemented strategies to achieve sustainability beyond 5 years. This population was appropriate for this study because the restaurant industry is a critical economic driver in the southwest region of the United States (National Restaurant Association, 2017). Identifying strategic trends of small family restaurant business owners in southwest

region of the United States might provide current and future small family restaurant business owners with insight to improve the overall small business success rate. The implication for positive social change includes the potential for small business owners to contribute to local communities' economic growth and stainability by increasing employment opportunities and leveraging market competition. The implication for positive social change includes the potential for small business owners to contribute to local communities' economic growth and stainability by increasing employment opportunities and leveraging market competition.

Role of the Researcher

My role as the researcher in this qualitative case study was to develop and implement a systematic data collection process aligned with a central research question. In a qualitative study, the researcher's role is to develop and implement a systematic process to ensure that collected data aligns with a central research question, and transcribed data provides a non-bias opinion (Peterson, 2019). As the primary research instrument, I planned to collect data by formulating and using semi-structured interview questions that aligned with an identified problem statement and central research question (Johnson, 2020). My role in the data collection plan was to establish interview protocol and boundaries to conduct semi-structured interviews with recruited participants.

As a formal manager of a small franchise restaurant in Houston, I have experience developing and implementing strategies to achieve sustainability. Although I have not owned a small business, I have developed business relationships with small business owners, community supporters, and customers, in which some business owners have

sustained business past the first 5 years of beginning operations. My previous restaurant management experience and rapport with small restaurant owners who have achieved sustainability beyond the first 5 years of beginning operation will not influence or introduce bias into this study. A researcher may develop a non-bias interest in researching a central phenomenon based on knowledge or experience of a related research problem (Johnson, 2020). I complied with controlling and maintaining bias in this study based on my leadership professional and ethical standards.

The National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research wrote the Belmont Report, which sets up ethical guidelines for the researcher, such as (a) respect for humans, (b) beneficence, and (d) justice when involving humans in a research study (Department of Health, 2014). I reviewed and followed the Belmont Report, in which I adhered to the ethical guidelines related to the respect, beneficence, and justice of human participants. Before selecting and interviewing participants, I obtained approval from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) to support human participants' ethical practices and confidentiality. According to contents in the Belmont Report, the researcher must apply for approval for (a) consent of the human subject (disclosure information, comprehension, and voluntary participation), (b) assessment of risks and benefits (nature and scope of risks and benefits and system utilization) and (c) selection of subject before conducting research study (Department of Health, 2014) before soliciting human participants. I asked participants standard openended interview questions to allow the participants to respond to their lived experiences and viewpoint. Researchers follow an interview protocol as a methodological framework

for planning and conducting an in-depth exploration of a central phenomenon as participants present new ideas from a lived experience (Nowell et al., 2017).

Understanding research bias allows the researcher to avoid potentially misleading results (Shaw & Satalkar, 2018). To mitigate bias and avoid viewing data from my perspective, I used bracketing and member checking to ensure reliability, credibility, rigor, and validation in the data collection process. In a qualitative study, researchers use bracketing to formulate a self-awareness of assumptions related to a central phenomenon using open-ended interview questions and field notes (Dempsey et al., 2016). I applied member checking, where I asked participants to review and confirm the accuracy of the transcribed collected data. According to Zairul (2020), researchers use member checking to control bias by allowing participants an opportunity to review, clarify and validate the accuracy of the data collected.

Participants

Determining eligibility criteria for participants involves the researcher establishing screening guidelines to ensure selected participants share similar characteristics and insight on a central research question (Johnson et al., 2020). Selecting participants with similar characteristics helps the researcher collect appropriate and meaningful data to answer the central research question (Farrugia, 2019). For this study, participant eligibility criteria consisted of five small family restaurant business owners in Texas's southwest region who (a) were over 18 years of age, (b) employed fewer than 50 employees, and (c) owned a restaurant beyond 5 years of beginning operations. I used purposive sample to select the sample for this study. Purposive sampling is a common

technique used in a qualitative research study, in which the researcher selects a sample based on participants' knowledge and experience about a central research question (Farrugia, 2019).

Gaining access and establishing a working relationship with participants is crucial for a researcher because participants are the primary data source in a qualitative study (Riese, 2019). Upon approval from IRB, I utilized the Small Business Association and National Restaurant Association databases to gain access to a listing of at least 15 small family-owned restaurant business owners in the southwest region who meet the established eligibility criteria. I contacted potential participants via telephone and email (see Appendix A) to give an overview of the study's purpose and invite participants to the study. I sent a formal consent letter for participants to review and sign electronically (see Appendix B). I focused on establishing and sustaining trust by demonstrating transparency through continued communication, being respectful, and encouraging participants to be engaged throughout the research.

I established a working relationship with selected participants by building and maintaining trust. The researcher and participants are an integral part in a qualitative research study in which establishing a working relationship that builds and sustains trust is a primary factor (Riese, 2019). To effectively support a working relationship and trust, I negotiated and communicated clear and concise boundaries, codes of conduct, completion of a consent form, and promoted open and honest communication. I allowed participants to express their thoughts and ideas, review field notes and audio recordings, and provide feedback about transcribed data and themes. I applied other strategies to

build working relationships and trust by providing participants with a list of the interview questions and ensured confidentiality and anonymity of participants' names and collected information.

Research Method and Design

Choosing an appropriate research method and design is essential to a research study in which the researcher determines the appropriate method to collect data on a central phenomenon (Patten & Newhart, 2017). Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed method are the three types of research methods (Onwuegbuzie et al., 2017). The qualitative research method requires the researcher to apply inductive reasoning to acquire and collect non-numerical data based on identified themes (Patten & Newhart, 2017). Researchers use the quantitative research method to collect and use measurable numerical data to test hypotheses and generate statistical data (Onwuegbuzie et al., 2017). Researchers utilize mixed method to integrate quantitative and qualitative methods and collect non-numerical and numerical data (Patten & Newhart, 2017).

Research Method

I chose the qualitative research method to obtain an in-depth exploration and understanding of strategies small family restaurant business owners use to sustain business beyond the first 5 years of beginning operations from human experiences.

Researchers use the qualitative research method to explore social interactions and obtain responses based on participants' lived experiences, behaviors, and values (Kim et al., 2017). I applied the qualitative research method to conduct semi-structured one-on-one interviews using open-ended interview questions, which enabled a deeper exploration

into the how and why responses of participants. Researchers use a qualitative method to collect non-statistical data to explore what, why, and how of a central research question (Kozleski, 2017).

The quantitative research method involves the researcher identifying variables and formulating hypotheses to test the significance of cause-effect or correlation relationships between variables (Kim et al., 2017). Researchers use a quantitative research method to conduct research based on statistical data (Bloomfield & Fisher, 2019). A mixed method approach consists of both quantitative and qualitative research methods in which the researcher includes statistical and social data within a single research study (Park & Park, 2016). The intent of this study was not to test hypotheses or apply a combination of statistical and semi-structured data. As a result, quantitative and mixed method were not appropriate for this study.

Research Design

Qualitative research design entails conducting data collection from one of the four common approaches, ethnography, phenomenological study, case study, and narrative study. For this study, I explored in-depth study of a central and complex research question related to strategies small family restaurant business owners use to sustain their business beyond 5 years of beginning operations. The intent was to apply multiple resources to explore and identify holistic views and common themes related to *what*, *how*, and *why* small family restaurant business owners implemented certain strategic practices to sustain business beyond five years of operations. As a result, I selected a qualitative multi case study as the research design aligned with the focus of this study.

Case study design entails the researcher focusing on a central and complex research question in which the researcher applies social science to develop an in-depth understanding of factors related to a central research question (Kross & Gius, 2019). A bounded setting and holistic inquiry are essential components of a case study, which the researcher uses to capture relevant data from multiple sources that provide a detailed representation of the phenomenon research question (Harling, 2012).

For this study, ethnography research, phenomenological study, or narrative research designs were not appropriate. Researchers conducting an ethnography study a specific culture group through observation, interaction, and interview (Ploder & Hamann, 2021). This study did not require studying a culture. As a result, ethnography was not an appropriate research design for this study. The phenomenological study is appropriate if a researcher is interested in conducting a study on participants shared lived experiences (Bliss, 2016). Researchers use narrative study to study a formulate research question through story telling by participants (Tomaszewski et al., 2020). The narrative study was not an appropriate research design for this study, as the purpose of this study was to conduct an in-depth exploration of a central phenomenon through an individual's lived experience and not through a story. A multi case study was most appropriate for this study due to the logical reasoning of conducting an in-depth understanding of a central research question of what strategies small family restaurant business owners use to sustain business beyond five years of operations.

Data saturation refers to the point at which no new information exists or identified codes and themes emerge for the researcher to obtain on a central phenomenon resulting

in the collected data being redundant (Lowe et al., 2018). In qualitative research, a critical part of the research is for the researcher to achieve data saturation. Failure of the researcher to achieve data saturation compromises data collection and analysis (Sebele-Mpofu, 2020). To achieve data saturation, I interacted with participants answering and asking questions, recording additional information, and reviewing and obtaining feedback until no new information, codes, or themes emerged. At that point, I assumed data saturation had occurred.

Population and Sampling

The selected population for this qualitative case study included a purposive sample size of five small family restaurant business owners located in the southwest region of Texas. Purposive sampling is a form of non-probability sampling in which the researcher identifies and applies specific criteria to select a sample population (Etikan et al., 2016). Purposive sampling is one of the most cost effective and time saving methods for a researcher conducting a qualitative case study, in which the researcher selects participants to provide rich, in-depth information related to a central research question (Palinkas et al., 2015). Determining the proper sample size in qualitative research is based on the researcher's judgment related to the purpose of the study, established conceptual framework, and experience or view of interest (Malterud et al., 2016).

In a qualitative study, the selected sample size should be sizable enough to collect in-depth information and achieve data saturation in which no new information or themes emerges (Etikan et al., 2016). This study consisted of a purposive sample size of five participants in which I achieved data saturation by asking open ended interview

questions to participants, and providing participants the opportunity to offer additional information, and review transcribed and coded data until the no new information was exposed resulting in redundancy of data. If I had not achieved data saturation during data collection or analysis process, I would have followed up with participants for clarification and confirmation. Data saturation occurs when the researcher identifies no new information and repetitive data information occurs (Saunders et al., 2018).

The criteria for selecting participants consisted of small family restaurant business owners over the age of 18, located in the southwest region of Texas with less than 50 employees, who have sustained business beyond 5 years of beginning operations. The southwest region of Texas is one of the most prominent cities for small restaurant business owners (National Restaurant Association, 2017). I based the interview setting on the participants' convenience, in which I provided them the option to be interviewed virtually, at their business location in a private and conformable environment free of interruptions or on the phone. Before conducting the interview, I explained to the participants the purpose of the interview, the terms of confidentiality, the format of the interview, and the expected length. I also provided participants with a consent form and an informed method for collecting data. Participants received a written consent form informing them of their right to refuse to participate in the study.

Ethical Research

Establishing and implementing ethical guidelines enable researchers to protect and respect human participants' rights and preserve the integrity of research data (Thomas & Pettitt, 2017). Before conducting this study, I obtained approval from the

Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Walden University, in which I followed the three-basic ethics of research involving human subjects guidelines. The three ethical guidelines are (a) the principles of respect of persons, (b) beneficence, and (c) justice (Belmont Report, 1979). The final doctoral manuscript included the Walden IRB approval number 10-29-21-0494124. Prior to engaging in the interviews, each participant received an emailed invitation (see Appendix A) and consent form (see Appendix B) written in clear, understandable format to include the invitation, purpose, length of study, and sample of interview questions.

The consent form contained a disclaimer informing participants of the right to decline or withdraw at any time prior to or during the study without penalty (Thomas & Pettitt, 2017). The participant consent form contained contact information in case participants had any questions regarding the study (Thomas & Pettitt, 2017). I emailed each participant a consent form to include a disclaimer. Additionally, I requested for participant to review and indicate their consent by replying to the email with the words "I consent" before participating in the interview process.

Ethical research builds trust and accountability and protects the rights and privacy of human participants (Meyer, 2018). I protected the privacy of participants by using acronyms instead of participants' actual names. Ethical research consists of researchers informing participants that participation is voluntary and no compensation or incentives for their participation in the study will be distributed (Custers, 2016). To adhere to ethical standards, I informed participants in the consent form that participation was voluntary and involved no monetary or incentive reward. I also inform participants of resources that

would be used to collect data, such as field notes, audio recorder and business documents.

In maintaining ethical standards and IRB compliance, the researcher needs to include in the consent form the right of participants to withdraw at any point of research phase and receive clarity on the offering of any form of incentive (Thomas & Pettitt, 2017). In building a robust ethical research study, the researcher should provide participants the opportunity to review collected and transcribed data and the outcome of the study (Custers, 2016). I utilized member checking to allow participants the to review and confirm transcribed data, codes, and themes. I will store all collected data in a locked and secured cabinet drawer for 5 years. After 5 years, I will destroy all collected data, delete electronic data, and shred written data.

Data Collection Instruments

For this qualitative case study, I served as the primary data collection instrument in which I used multiple data collection sources to include (a) semi-structured interview questions (see Appendix C), (b) an audio recorder, (c) note taking, audiovisual data and (d) documentation review as additional instruments in the data collection process. In a qualitative study, the researcher collects data by utilizing a social interaction data collection method, which can consist of one-on-one interviews, observation, focus groups, archived records, documentation, and audiovisual (Morse, 2015). As the primary data collection instrument, the researcher conducts a semi-structured interview to collect relevant data from participants' lived experiences, in which the interviewer can offer additional insight into the central phenomenon (Smith & McGannon, 2018).

I followed interview protocol (see Appendix C) to set interview boundaries,

ensure alignment of interview and research questions and conduct one on one semistructured virtual interviews using 6 open-ended interview questions to explore participants' lived experience, as related to achieving sustainability beyond the first 5 years of beginning operations. The researcher follows the interview protocol to ensure alignment of the interview and central research questions and essential data collected prior to and post interview (Yeong et al., 2018). In a qualitative case study, the data collection process consists of the researcher formulating open-ended interview questions to conduct semi-structured one on one interviews with set social boundaries (Smith & McGannon, 2018). I used audiovisual, audio recorder, note taking, and documentation review to capture the participants' responses and support the findings of collected data. Researchers utilize audiovisual note taking as a data collection instrument to accurately capture participants' responses and interpretations to interview questions (Nicolaou, 2021). Researchers review documentation to record data that aligns with responses (Baskarada, 2014). I asked participants to voluntarily share financial documents to support sustainability beyond 5 years of beginning operations.

The researcher enhances the reliability and validity of qualitative data by seeking each participant's approval, recording responses, and reviewing supporting documentation to interpret and conceptualize data relevant to the central phenomenon (Smith & McGannon, 2018). Member checking is the validation of data reliability in which the researcher allows each participant to review, provide input, and confirm the interpretation of their responses (Morse, 2015). I used member checking as a validation process to share transcript review, coding, and theme categorizing for collaboration and

feedback regarding misrepresentation and correction of captured data. In a qualitative study, researchers apply member checking to improve the reliability and validation of data in which inaccurate or unrelated data is removed based on follow up and clarification from participants (Smith & McGannon, 2018).

Data Collection Technique

The qualitative data collection technique involves social interaction, in which the researcher contacts participants to set up one on one semi structured interviews in a controlled environment (Rosenthal, 2016). The data collection technique for this qualitative case study will consist of a triangulation technique to include (a) obtaining approval from IRB for consent to solicit human participants, (b) identifying and contacting potential small business owners, (c) conducting semi-structured, virtual one on one interviews, (d) audio recording each interview, (e) reviewing relevant documents and (f) member checking. Researchers triangulate multiple data collection sources to show the credibility, validity, and rigor of collected data (Farquhar et al., 2020). The ability of a researcher to collect data using multiple resources provides flexibility to explore multiple dimensions to gather data on a central phenomenon (Farquhar et al., 2020). I collected data using an auto recorder and field notes as resources to capture data related to a central research question and topic.

For this study, I provided participants with a disclaimer outlining the purpose of the interview and the opportunity to withdraw from an interview at any point during the interview session. I obtained the IRB consent by completing and submitting IRB consent form. Additionally, I asked each participant to participate in a 60-minute semi-structured

virtual interview, in which I asked the participants six open-ended interview questions related to strategies small family restaurant owners use to sustain their business beyond 5 years of beginning operations. Participants had the choice to conduct the virtual interview using Zoom, WebEx, over phone, or in person. Virtual interviews have become a popular and effective method for researchers to collect data in a qualitative study due to the COVID-19 pandemic (Sah et al., 2020). Researchers use interviews as a data collection technique to establish rapport and obtain an in-depth understanding of the participants' concepts and motives for specific actions (Rosenthal, 2016). Participants had the the opportunity to ask additional questions.

Interviews provide the researcher with the opportunity to obtain in-depth clarification as relates to ambiguous responses to interview questions. The advantage researchers have in conducting semi structured interviews is the feasibility of adjusting, changing, or expounding on participants' responses (Dowling et al., 2016). The two most significant disadvantages of the interview technique are the length of time and the ability to control bias. I utilized member checking to review, interpret and validate relevant data. In addition, I provided participants the opportunity to review, confirm and offer feedback on data interpretation to ensure clarity in coding and applied themes. Member checking enables the researcher to establish credibility and trustworthiness in qualitative data collection by allowing the participants to review, validate and provide informative feedback on the interpretation of data (Brear, 2019).

Data Organization Technique

Researchers use data organization techniques to organize, track, analyze, and

safely store collected data (Hamilton & Finley, 2019). I used NVivo as a tool for organizing, tracking, analyzing collected data. NVivo is commonly used computer software by researchers conducting a qualitative study to manage, analyze and store collected data (Maher et al., 2018). NVivo is commonly used computer software by researchers conducting a qualitative study to manage, analyze and store collected data (Maher et al., 2018). Researchers apply a combination of reviewing, analyzing, and transcribing data using an audio recorder to identify common themes and apply codes aligned with a research question (Skjott & Korsgaard, 2019). To protect the confidentiality of participants, I applied a coding and labeling system to differentiate each participant and emerging theme.

Researchers must ensure the confidentiality and autonomy of collected data by storing the contents of collected data in a secure environment (Cypress, 2018). I will secure all electronic data on an encrypted thumb drive and secure the thumb drive in a locked safe to be destroyed 5 years after completing the study. In addition, I will safely store all field notes, my reflective journal, and other hardcopy documents in a locked safe and shredded after 5 years of study completion date. Subsequently, I will permanently delete audio recorded data from the electronic storage device to safeguard the participants' confidentiality.

Data Analysis

Methodological triangulation consists of the researcher utilizing various sources to analyze participants' responses to interview questions and documents on a central phenomenon (Heesen et al., 2019). Researchers use methodological triangulation in

conducting data analysis to analyze, compare, and confirm data gathered from participants on a phenomenon (Heesen et al., 2019). As the primary instrument of this study, I collaborated with participants to schedule a date, time, and setting to conduct a 60 minute semi structured interview with each participant. I used an audio recorder and field notation to collect data during the interview with each participant. Relevant business documents to support the small business owner's business disposition were reviewed and collected. I utilized NVivo and Microsoft Word to organize, manage, transcribe, label, code, and identify common themes.

I used methodological triangulation to conduct data analysis for this qualitative case study. Methodological triangulation involves the researcher utilizing various sources to analyze participants' responses to interview questions and documents on a central phenomenon (Lawlor et al., 2016). In applying the methodological triangulation process, I included three in-depth processes: one on one interviews, collection and reviewing of business documents, and streaming of collected data through transcribing, coding, and labeling common themes. I interpreted the data by reviewing and comparing audio-recorded data and handwritten notes until there was a clear and concise interpretation of responses and formulated identifiable patterns established. I used identified patterns to streamline text, create codes, label, and apply themes using NVivo.

In a qualitative study, the researcher uses NVivo, field notes, and an audio recorder to streamline, identify, label, and code emerging themes (Maher et al., 2018). Establishing a data analysis process enables the researcher to manage, reformat, and continuously review data to understand, transcribe, code, classify, and categorize data to

support the rigor of findings (Lester et al., 2020). In the data analysis process, I included a continuous review of manual and recorded data to understand and identify emerging, track and transcribe data simplify, categorize, label, and code identified themes in a written format, and summarize findings.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability and validity are essential to support consistency and accuracy in measuring a central phenomenon (Cypress, 2017). In a qualitative study, reliability and validity are two key concepts researchers use to define and measure the research findings' trustworthiness and rigor (Cypress, 2017). Richards and Hemphill (2017) posited that qualitative research results are subjective; the researcher is the primary data instrument and applies interviews and observations as primary data collection instruments (Richards & Hemphill, 2017). Based on the subjective data collection and analysis processes establishing reliability and validity poses a challenge due to the need to control research bias (Richards & Hemphill, 2017). Therefore, researchers can enhance reliability and validity in the results of a qualitative study by assessing credibility, confirmability, and transferability (Richards & Hemphill, 2017).

Reliability

Reliability in a qualitative study ensures the researcher's trustworthiness through consistency and adequacy in which the research method yields the same results when applied multiple times (Maher et al., 2018). In measuring a research instrument's reliability, the researcher applies the same data collection method, analysis, and interpretation to yield the same or comparable results over repeated periods consistently

(Maher et al., 2018). The researcher's ability to show reliability by achieving repetition in findings establishes the research method's dependability. Reliability is similar to dependability, in which dependability includes consistency in obtaining similar or identical results if the researcher replicated the study (Morse, 2015).

A qualitative researcher can apply triangulation and member checking to establish and measure a qualitative study's reliability and dependability (Shoaib & Mujtaba, 2016). According to Earnest (2020), researchers use the triangulation method to include member checking to support the dependability of the research study by providing participants with the continuous opportunity to confirm the completeness of research data. Triangulation is an essential method for the researcher to show reliability and dependability in which the researcher uses multiple data sources or methods to analyze data (Shoaib & Mujtaba 2016).

Member checking enhances the reliability and dependability of data by allowing participants to review, validate, and provide feedback on transcribed data to ensure accuracy (Birt et al., 2016). In this study, I used standard semi formal interview questions, interview protocol, audio recorder, and field notes to create an audio audit trail to establish consistency in replicating findings. To govern data accuracy, I reviewed and summarized collected data, asked participants follow-up questions that required clarification, and used member checking to allow participants to review and clarify data. Hadi and Closs (2017) conceptualized that using more than one resource to capture data, providing participants with standard open-ended interview questions in a controlled setting, and allowing participants to review and provide feedback on data analysis assist

researchers with obtaining detailed information to support findings in a research study.

Validity

Validity is the researcher's ability to show that the data instrument used accurately measured the intended results of a study (Rose & Johnson, 2020). According to Rose and Johnson (2020), validity in a qualitative study can be challenging due to the subjective nature of data collection and interpretation, resulting in the researcher's need to account for trustworthiness, personal biases, and data accuracy in the research findings are not influenced. As a result, credibility, transferability, and confirmability are standard criteria used to measure validity (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). Credibility is the researcher's ability to show that the depth of the information gathered accurately measures the study's findings (Nowell et al., 2017). Transferability relates to other respondents' ability to generalize and apply findings from a study to other settings or situations. Confirmability is how well the research findings support the actual data collected. Nowell et al. (2017) conceptualized the data triangulation method, prolonged engagement, observation, member checking, and data saturation as techniques researchers use to fulfill credibility, transferability, and confirmability in qualitative studies.

Strategies I applied to show credibility, transferability, and confirmability were data triangulation, prolonged engagement, member checking, purposive sampling, and data saturation. Throughout my data collection and analysis, I utilized data triangulation, which involved using multiple resources, such as in-depth interviews, field notes, and audio recorders, to collect data (Nowell et al., 2017). To establish the credibility of the study, I used prolonged engagement and member checking in which participants by

asking semi structured interview questions related to a specific research question and provided the opportunity to review and verify field notes, audio recordings, and transcribed notes to confirm the accuracy of interpreted data (Birt et al., 2016).

I demonstrated transferability using purposive sampling and data saturation to provide an in-depth and detailed description of participants and the research process to show the study results related to other contexts and situations. The purposive sampling concept entails the researcher setting criteria to select participants who can provide in-depth information on a central research question based on their related experience and knowledge (Etikan et al., 2016).

Credibility

Credibility is an essential criterion for the researcher to demonstrate the trustworthiness and value of research findings related to a central research question (Etienne et al., 2018). The researcher uses member checking and methodological triangulation strategies to support credibility through transparency of collected and analyzed data, reproducibility of the results using the same data collection process, the robustness of outcomes, and replicability of research results (Etienne et al., 2018). The triangulation method enables the researcher to apply multiple sources in the data collection and analysis process to strengthen the credibility of the researcher's findings (Morris & Paris, 2021). The researcher establishes credibility through transparency with participants in the interpretation, transcribing, coding, and validation processes (Morris & Paris, 2021). To establish credibility, I used member checking in data collection, analysis, and finding. In addition, I executed methodological triangulation in which I

used multiple sources, such as open-ended interview questions, audio recorder, field notes, and NVivo, to collect and analyze the data.

Confirmability

Confirmability is the criterion used by researchers to show trustworthiness in which the researcher's data interpretation and findings represent participants' responses (Nassaji, 2020). Researchers can show confirmability by using audit trail and reflexivity strategies to present data and findings so that the accuracy can be confirmed by others (Nassaji, 2020). To show confirmability, the researcher can use an audit trail to track the data collection and analysis process to demonstrate how the researcher conducted the research and ascertained the research results (Carcary, 2020). Subsequentially, the researcher's ability to demonstrate reflexivity in research controls the bias in a qualitative study. Reflexivity is the ability of the researcher to reflect on the role and effect the researcher contributed to the research, data collection, and analysis process, and findings of a research study (Dodgson, 2019). I used the audit trail to support the tracking of data. I demonstrated reflexivity by developing an interview protocol and creating transparency through member checking to ensure the confirmability of this study.

Transferability

Transferability is the ability of the researcher to demonstrate that other researchers or interested audiences can apply the exact findings of the researcher's study to other research contexts and settings (Munthe-Kaas et al., 2019). To establish the transferability of results, the researcher uses member checking to present a detailed description of the research topic, interview protocol, data collection, and analysis process

and findings (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). I utilized member checking and interview protocol to provide a detailed description of the interview, data organization technique, participant criteria and collected data and analysis process.

Data Saturation

Researchers in a qualitative study achieve data saturation when the study's information becomes repetitive and no new information, themes, or coding appears in the data collection process (Hennink et al., 2019). According to Constantinou et al. (2017), achieving data saturation through data rigor is a critical methodological principle in a qualitative study. To ensure data saturation, I conducted prolonged engagement and member checking to obtain in-depth information and rigor, at which point reoccurring themes and codes appeared in data analysis. I achieved confirmability by using field notes, an audio recorder, and NVivo to create a detailed audit trail of research activities, data collection methods, and data interpretation to alleviate research bias. Hadi and Closs (2016) posited that a detailed audit trail of all research activities establishes confirmability in a study by providing other respondents with the sources to review and validate the findings' relevance.

Transition and Summary

In Section 2, I began by discussing the purpose statement of my research study and the role of the researcher and participants. Next, I discussed (a) the research methodology and design, (b) population and sampling method; (c) ethical research; (d) data collection instruments, (e) data collection technique, and analysis. I concluded Section 2 with a discussion on the reliability and validity of my study. Section 3 begins

with an introduction of the purpose statement. Next, I discussed the presentation of findings to include the research question, themes, and the relation of themes to the conceptual framework. Section 3 further consisted of (a) application to professional practice, (b) implications for social change, (c) recommendations for action, (d) recommendations for further research, (e) researcher reflections, (f) conclusion, and (g) appendices and table of contents.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

This qualitative multiple case study aimed to explore strategies that some small family restaurant business owners use to achieve sustainability beyond 5 years of beginning operations. Participants for this study included five small family restaurant business owners located in the southwest region of Texas who have implemented strategies to achieve sustainability beyond 5 years of beginning operations. The data collected originated from one on one semi-structured interviews and a review of the company and public documents. I used utilized hand notes, audio recording, NVivo, and Microsoft Word to transcribe, organize, code, and identify four common themes (a) marketing, (b) product quality and consistency, (c) customer service, and (d) finances that participants use to sustain their business beyond five years of beginning operations. I applied member checking to achieve validation, confirmation, and data saturation and identified common themes. The findings showed strategies small family restaurant owners use to achieve sustainability beyond five years of beginning operations.

Presentation of the Findings

The central research question for this study was: What strategies do small family restaurant business owners use to sustain business beyond 5 years of beginning operations? I conducted semi-structured one-on-one interviews via face to face, phone call, and Zoom with five small family business owners to identify strategies small family restaurant business owners use to sustain business beyond 5 years of beginning operations. I also reviewed participants' financial documents, and recognition

Awards, and reviews. The five participants were in the southwest region of Texas and had sustained their family business beyond 5 years of beginning operations.

To protect participants' privacy, I labeled participants as SRBO1, SRBO2, SRB3, SRBO4, and SRBO5. All five participants responded to the same six interview questions aligned with the central research question. Four common themes, product quality and consistency, marketing, customer loyalty, and finances emerged from the transcribing and coding of the data. This section includes findings and alignment of each theme with Porter's five force analysis. In addition, I compared the findings to existing literature to confirm, disconfirm or extend knowledge of the research topic. Table 1 shows the occurrence of frequency of the four themes.

Table 1

Frequency of Participants' Responses Related to Strategies Small Family Restaurant

Business Owners Use to Sustain Business Beyond 5 Years of Beginning Operations

Theme	Frequency
Quality product and consistency	38
Marketing	25
Customer Loyalty	37
Finances	30

Theme 1: Product Quality and Consistency

The first theme that emerged from the participants' response and data analysis

was product quality and consistency. Participants emphasized the importance of focusing on product quality and consistency to sustain their business. All participants stressed that offering and maintaining product quality and consistency enabled them to establish and maintain the business name, product differentiation, and brand loyalty, resulting in a competitive advantage that promotes sustainability. According to participants, offering customers product quality and consistency can establish product differentiation that sets them apart from existing and future competitors.

Business owners who focus on product quality and consistency can create a strong customer value proposition by bringing products distinct from their competitors to light. (Juliana & Nyoman, 2019). When the threat of substitute products is high, and a business owner offers product quality and consistency, customers consider the product a unique commodity and are less likely to switch products (Juliana & Nyoman, 2019). In addition, customers buy products from businesses with the expectation that they provide them with product quality and consistency, resulting in business owners establishing a brand name and product differentiation (Mendocilla et al., 2020).

SRBO1 stated that due to the importance of maintaining product quality and consistency, she mostly does everything hands-on, in which she buys, preps, and cooks the food items that she serves in the restaurant. SRBO1 denoted that within the business experience of her owning and managing a restaurant, she discovered that sustainability in the restaurant business is dependent on product quality and consistency. SRBO1 indicated that achieving product quality and consistency requires following a standard process and procedure each time while prepping, cooking, and serving food to the

customers. SRBO1 stated, "We have been in business for 27 years in which being consistent in our food quality has allowed us to develop our business' name and reputation." SRBO1 discussed that they formulated a reputation for signature foods in the Houston metropolitan area by offering product quality and consistency to customers.

SORB1 stressed that celebrities, professional athletes, and government officials continue to stop in to purchase their signature foods. According to Porter's five forces concept, a business can achieve sustainability by offering unique quality products that customers value (Islami et al., 2020).

SRBO2 identified that consistency in producing and offering quality products that attract and retain customers should be the primary purpose of sustaining any business. items to our customers that were different from others in quality and consistency. For example, SRBO2 initially started out as a sandwich shop, and as the community changed over time, SRBO2 changed its business to offer more quality products to customers within the community. They added barbecue with signature sauce and catfish-shrimp poor boy sandwiches to their menu items. SRBO2 emphasized that their business name and reputation for consistency in offering quality producst are well known, so it is critical that they continue focusing on improving their products to ensure quality and consistency to maintain a competitive advantage over their competitors.

SRBO2 further stated that they are not anticipating adding many new products because they offer common foods that are popular among all demographics and cultures. SRBO2 stated, "Product quality and consistency provide for product differentiation which sets us apart from other restaurant entities in our area." The restaurant industry is

highly competitive due to the numerous existing entities and low barriers for new owners to enter the market (Hidaya et al., 2019). As a result, business owners who establish and sustain product differentiation can better position themselves to achieve a competitive advantage based on brand and customer loyalty (Hidaya et al., 2019).

SRBO3 stated that the restaurant business is a very competitive business due to customers having the liberty to obtain similar or substitute products from various restaurant entities. As a result, SRBO3 stressed that he would add and remove items from the food menus to maintain consistency in offering quality products that attracted and retained customers. SRBO3 stressed that product quality and consistency are the primary reasons customers return to their restaurant. According to SRB3, customers are the ones who confirm product quality, so when the majority of their customers' perception of quality and consistency changes, they must be open to adding or removing items to retain that quality and consistency. Business owners can achieve sustainability by consistently promoting and offering quality products that meet customers' expectations (Hidayat et al., 2019).

SRBO4 stated that product quality and consistency are essential because it allows customers to know what to expect each time they visit and buy a food product from their restaurant. SRBO4 discussed that to promote product quality and consistency, he developed and implemented a vision for his restaurant that emphasized the importance of product quality and consistency. SRBO4 denoted that building product quality and consistency in a business vision are vital for establishing, focusing, and aligning daily goals to maintain a business's primary purpose. SRB4O said, "Our vision defines a

shared purpose, commitment, and direction of what we want to accomplish and how."

SRBO4 further indicated that providing customers with quality products and consistency has helped him sustain and grow his business. A clear and concise business vision provides business owners with a roadmap for achieving sustainability, growth, and competitive advantage within their business industry (Muhonza et al., 2021). Business owners can create and implement a vision for their business to guide standard processes and practices that contribute to product quality and consistency (Muhonza et al., 2021).

SRBO5 indicated that she had been in business for 22 years, in which quality products and consistency were essential elements to the sustainability of her business. SRBO5 discussed that the foundation of her business was pretty set because her Grandparents previously owned the business. As a result, she needed to maintain the same consistency in product quality that her grandparents established. SRBO5 said, "Whatever my grandparents did, I had ensured I was consistent with doing." SRBO5 further indicated that product quality and consistency were critical factors in developing a brand and business name that sets them apart from their competitors. For this reason, it is essential to develop products that align with our known brand."

The existing literature supports this practice. Product quality and consistency are determined by how often a business produces a product that meets customers' expectations (Sitanggang, 2019). Most businesses within a specific industry offer customers the same or similar products (Wantara & Tambrin, 2019). As a result, business proprietors must focus on product quality and consistency as a strategy to build customer loyalty (Wantara & Tambrin, 2019). Business owners who can provide product quality

and consistency can achieve sustainability. Customers are more liable to cater to and buy products from businesses that regularly meet or exceed their expectations (Sitanggang et al., 2019).

The product quality and consistency theme aligned with Porter's five forces analysis in which businesses can achieve sustainability by offering product quality and consistency, resulting in increased competitive advantage (Shi et al., 2020). Business owners can apply Porter's five forces analysis concept to achieve a competitive advantage over existing competitors by establishing product differentiation to decrease customers' desire to purchase substitute products from competitors. Porter's five force analysis concept is predicated on five competitive forces one of which is one is threat of substitutes. According to Porter's five forces analysis model, the level of competition for business proprietors in an industry that offer similar or substitute products will be high (Ferdinand & Tresyanto, 2020). Due to most restaurant owners' feasibility in offering similar or substitute products, the level of competition is high in the restaurant industry, resulting in restaurant owners needing to focus on product quality and consistency to support sustainability (Ferreira et al., 2022). Product quality and consistency promote brand and consumer satisfaction and loyalty, contributing to business sustainability (Ferreira et al., 2022).

Business owners can influence and limit consumers wanting to buy substitute products by offering consumers product quality and consistency (Appiah et al., 2021). The ability of businesses to offer substitute products can affect the sustainability and market position of businesses competing within an industry (Appiah et al., 2021). By

offering product quality and consistency as a sustainability strategy, small family-owned restaurant owners can increase consumer product demand (George, 2019).

Theme 2: Marketing

The second common theme that emerged from the participants' responses was marketing. All participants stressed that marketing is an essential strategy for promoting a business name, products, and services and retaining and attracting customers. Participants stated that due to the high level of competition in the restaurant industry, marketing is an essential strategy for business owners to use to develop, grow and sustain a business. Marketing is vital to small business growth and sustainability due to the high competition among small businesses (Mauzu & Shehu, 2021). All four participants indicated that marketing through social media is one of the most effective resources to build a customer base and distribute flyers. Business owners use social media, the internet, and mobile applications to achieve sustainability by implementing competitive marketing strategies such as brand loyalty, product and price differentiation, and special promotions that reach many customers (Mauzu & Shehu, 2021).

SRBO1 indicated that marketing is essential as, over time, the clientele, culture, and environment change, resulting in people wanting diverse types of food. As a result, SRBO1 often distributes fliers to advertise and offer different promotions. In addition, SRBO1 stated that due to their product differentiation and location, they experience limited competition with our products. However, SRBO indicated the importance of continuing to market their products due to changes in demographic and people wanting to try different types of food products. SRBO5 also indicated that they monitor the

demographics to adjust to changes in our external environment that may affect their business sustainability.

SRBO2 stated that the worst thing that happened to him externally was when the city started a development project near his business resulting in roads and freeway closures, which affected his clientele. SRBO2 indicated that due to the road and freeway closures, he had to do a lot of marketing and advertising to let people know that his restaurant still existed and was opened for business. SRBO2 further discussed challenges in the progress of his business due to being in a gentrification area where people move in and out, which hinders the progress of our business. As a result, SRBO2 emphasized doing a significant amount of marketing in the community and neighboring schools to promote business and show community support. In addition, SRBO2 stressed the importance of using marketing as a strategy to assist with building his business' name and reputation. SRBO2 stated that marketing helps build customer loyalty and keeps a footprint in the community, which is a crucial factor for business sustainability.

SRBO3 indicated the importance of monitoring the restaurant market for changes in customer preference and making the needed changes to retain customers and increase profit. SRBO3 responded that he uses marketing strategies to research restaurant competition in the surrounding areas to see what new and existing competitors are selling and then determine strategies to create product differentiation by doing things differently. We have to make changes. For example, we had a pool table inside our business in which we were more like a café in which we sold food. In exploring marketing opportunities, we discovered we could increase business if we converted the area occupied by the pool

table to a dine-in area. So, we decided to make our business more like a dine-in restaurant by taking out the pool table and adding a seating area.

SRBO3 further denoted that they inputted more tables and chairs, which allowed them to market their dine in services, as most customers wanted to dine in and socialize. Another marketing strategy SRBO3 pointed out using to assist their business sustainability was technology, which enabled him to use social media for marketing business. SRBO3 discussed how online marketing had assisted them with sustaining business during COVID-19, in which they used the website and social media to market and promote online ordering, curbside pick-up, and door dash. SRBO3 stated, "We also use the radio for the advertisement of our business, as well as post and distribute fliers. The COVID-19 pandemic forced restaurant businesses to change how they marketed their business (Gursoy & Chi, 2020). One must be willing to make changes based on the external environment. Significant changes in business industries' external environment have promoted most business owners to use marketing strategies to achieve sustainability and competitive advantage by promoting their business, products, services, and pricing to a larger scale of customers (Malesey & Cherry, 2021).

SRBO4 stated that marketing their business through social media is their gateway to inform and attract customers. For this reason, SRBO indicated that developing and implementing a market plan is essential. Specifically, digital and social media enable businesses to reach a large customer base on a frequent and timelier basis (Malesev & Cherry, 2021). SRBO4 denoted that marketing is a big part of communicating who they are, what they offer, and how they do it. Businesses across industries can use social

media to reach current and potential customers to market their business names and product awareness (Malesev & Cherry, 2021). SRBO4 further indicated that due to the importance of marketing, he developed and implemented a market plan to reach his target audience, promote business, and share his restaurant's vision and product offerings.

SRBO5 responded that marketing is vital due to the need to adapt and make changes due to the economy. Based on the economy, we must continue to market to our customers who work in different industries in order for us to sustain our business. Our business location is in an oilfield town, and as the economy affects the oil workers' employment, it affects us. Economic downturns affected how we did business because we geared our meals towards many employees in the oil industry. For the past few years, we have faced different challenges due to the COVID-19 pandemic resulting in us using other marketing strategies to remain open. For example, we use online services to market curbside and door dash services. Business owners can continue connecting and promoting their products and services by increasing their marketing using online and digital technology (Hoekstra & Leeflang, 2020). Business owners use online and digital technology to promote and advertise business names, products, and services in which customers can access and review special promotions and restaurant menus and order food (Brewer & Sebby, 2021).

Due to the growing competition and changes in the external environment, marketing strategies allow most business owners to achieve sustainability by implementing competitive market strategies that attract and retain customers (Muazu & Shehu, 2021). Businesses can use marketing for advertising and promoting business

names and locations, products, pricing, and promotions to a broad customer base through social media and the internet (Muazu & Shehu, 2021). Marketing is also essential for business proprietors to use during economic downturns and disruptive external environment events to achieve sustainability (Bajkó et al., 2022). The COVID-19 pandemic affected businesses globally. Most business owners market their brand name, location, changes in operations and customer services, products, and promotions using online digital and social media to customers (Bajkó et al., 2022).

The marketing theme aligns with Porter's five force analysis by providing business owners with a resource to achieve sustainability by leveraging competitive rivalry, substitutions, buyer power, a new entry, and supplier power (Sahir & Rosmawati, 2020). Porter's five forces analysis concept is predicated on business owners' awareness and focuses on five critical external factors that shape the success of a business within a specific industry (Bartunek, 2020). Marketing resources are a crucial part of a business owner's strategy to sustain a competitive advantage over competitors (Sahir & Rosmawati,2020). Porter's five forces concept entails business owners' analyzing and leveraging marketing opportunities to gain and sustain their business position within an industry (Bartunek, 2020). Marketing is aligned with Porter's conceptual framework as restaurant business proprietors can use marketing strategies to achieve sustainability by creating a competitive advantage by offering and promoting competitive prices, products, brand name, and location (Ferdinand & Tresyanto, 2020).

Theme 3: Customer Loyalty

The third primary theme identified from the data analysis was customer loyalty.

All participants indicated that focusing on customer loyalty is essential for achieving sustainability in their restaurant business. They have also developed and implemented customer loyalty programs such as special promotions and discounts. Participants agreed that customer loyalty increases customers' potential to return, solicit products and brand names to other customers, and positively contribute to a business's profit resulting in sustainability (Uddin, 2019). Business owners who promote customer loyalty in a competitive industry that offers consumers similar products and services can achieve sustainability. Customer loyalty promotes repeated customers buying products from the same entity (Uddin, 2019). The frequency of customers returning and purchasing products from the same business and promoting the business's name and products to other potential customers determines customer loyalty (El-Adly, 2019).

SRBO1, SRBO4, and SRBO5 responded that customer loyalty derives from their business sustainability which focuses on retaining and building a solid customer base by offering exceptional and consistent customer service and consistency in product quality. SRBO5 indicated that to establish and maintain sustainability. They focus on building customer loyalty by offering exceptional customer service and being accountable for their customers' satisfaction by catering and consistently offering a quality product. Customers are business owners' most valued asset as they are the primary source for businesses' generating profit (Tien et al., 2021). As a result, customer loyalty fosters a competitive environment in which business proprietors focus on customer loyalty as a strategy to build a solid customer base to achieve sustainability (Tien et al., 2021).

All participants agreed that focusing on customer loyalty as a strategy for

sustainability requires them to interact with and listen to their customers' suggestions, feedback, and concerns and respond and seek opportunities to consider and potentially implement suggestions. SRBO2, SRBO3, and SRBO4 indicated that their customers suggested creating music and more patio seating for relaxation and entertainment. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic resulting from the government implementing social distance impacting social gathering, SRBO2, SRBO3, and SRBO4 responded that they still provide music for customers to listen to while the customers wait in their vehicles for their food orders or curbside pick-up. Businesses can increase sustainability by increasing customer valuation by implementing strategies to promote customers wanting to buy products (Lin et al., 2020).

Additionally, participants agreed that customer loyalty involved being actively involved in the community with sponsorship and community needs. All participants indicated that building customer loyalty requires contributing to their community to allow customers and others to see that, as business owners, they are interested in more than just selling food and making a profit. They are also interested in the value and welfare of their community. SRBO2 denoted that contributing to the community has contributed significantly toward building a reputation and remaining in business beyond five years. SRBO3 stated that customer loyalty is current and potential customers seeing and knowing they are interested in giving back to the community. SRB3 provided an example in which occasionally they distribute free food and donate bicycles for kids to the community, as well as purchase and donate school uniforms and athletic uniforms to the local high school basketball team. SRBO4 stated, "People enjoy and patronize knowing

we care about our community." Consumers expect and value businesses that value and support the community (Widad et al., 2021).

Business owners can achieve sustainability by building customer loyalty (Strenitzerová & Gaňa, 2018). Customer loyalty is an essential metric for measuring a business's success. The value customers place on a business and the business' products results in customers being consistent in returning and purchasing the product (Strenitzerová & Gaňa, 2018). Most business scholars define customer loyalty as a long-term commitment in which the customer consistently returns to buy products or services from a specific business and promotes the business name and products to other potential customers (Arsian, 2020). Business owners can achieve a sustainable competitive advantage by implementing customer loyalty as their business strategy (Arsian, 2020).

Business owners focusing on customer loyalty as a strategy to achieve sustainability is congruent with Porter's five forces analysis (Ferdinand & Tresyanto, 2020). When a business owner can implement a strategy that decreases the likelihood that customers within the industry will seek competitors or substitute products provides a competitive advantage for the business owner (Ferdinand & Tresyanto, 2020). By establishing and maintaining customer loyalty, business owners can increase the probability that customers will return, revert to purchasing products from competitors, attract new customers, establish product differentiation, and promote business names (Khairawati, 2020).

Theme 4: Finances

Finances were the fourth primary theme that resulted from the study findings.

Each participant mentioned the importance of developing and implementing financial strategies to sustain their business. All participants indicated that a business could not exist without the appropriate finances to support operating the business. Finances are an essential determinant of a business owner's profit and ability to pay expenses to support sustainability (Kimanzi & Gamede, 2020). SRBO1 stated that cash flow was not a concern due to her business location, clientele, and product quality and consistency. However, SRBO1 expressed that allowing others to manage her business and handle funding negatively affected her finances due to others' mishandling of funds. As a result, SRBO1 took a hands on approach in which she managed all finances, including ordering and buying supplies, to ensure the appropriate finances to support working capital.

SRBO2 and SRBO5 expressed limited finances negatively affect their working capital availability. SRBO2 indicated that he needed more working capital to offer competitive food menus items such as fried food or barbecue to customers when he first opened. SRBO2 stated that when he first opened his business, it was a sandwich shop. Over time, he implemented a finance plan that enabled him to operate at a breakeven point. SRBO2 noted that using a finance plan enables him to be better aware of how much target profit he has to make each day before he opens. SRBO2 further stated that his financial strategy enables him to know and manage overhead costs such as gas, lights, food, employees' salaries, and other expenses.

SRBO2 further expressed that managing and planning his finances allowed him to make the needed changes and additives in his menu items to adjust to the changes in the community and sustain a profitable business. Lack of finances to support working capital

affects business owners' sustainability due to insufficient funds to pay short and long term debts and make investments for growth (Bushe, 2019). Working capital is financing available for business owners to pay current and short-term expenses, including but not limited to suppliers, overhead costs, employees, rentals, taxes, and creditors (Bushe, 2019).

SRBO5 responded that having proper finances to support working capital is extremely important. According to SRBO5, she started on a minimal budget. She did not have the finances for working capital, resulting in her need to create and implement a budget to build her working capital to sustain her business. In addition, SRBO5 stated that implementing a budget and managing expenditures to ensure expenses do not exceed profit has assisted her in sustaining her business for over 5 years of beginning operations. Insufficient finance strategies to manage working capital can negatively affect a business owner's sustainability (Zalaghi et al., 2019). Business owners can better manage their working capital and other financial resources by developing and implementing a budget as an internal control to plan and manage revenue and expenses (Zalaghi et al., 2019). A budget provides businesses with a finance tool for reviewing and tracking assets, expenses, cash flow, and profits to forecast, plan and adjust finances to sustain business performance and meet and improve business operation needs.

Finances are a critical element for the sustainability of any business due to the need for business owners to generate and maintain sufficient funds to sustain their business operations (Howell, 2019). By focusing on finance as a strategy for sustainability, business owners know how much funding they have and need to support

short and long-term debt and future investments. As a result, business proprietors can use finances as a key performance indicator for businesses to measure their ability to optimize cash flow and profits to support sustainability. In addition, business owners can increase sustainability by ensuring the appropriate funds are available to operate, pay expenses, generate profit, and promote market growth and development (Howell, 2019). Business proprietors who implement finance strategies can improve and sustain the demand for commodity prices, inventory control, and economic downturns (Park & Kim, 2021).

Finances align with Porter's five forces analysis based on participants' responses. Participants use finance to generate profit through investments in product quality and consistency to reduce the substitute of their products and optimize cash flow to generate additional profit. Small restaurant business owners can use Porter's five forces analysis to align finance strategies to measure and achieve a profit above the industry average and promote competitive advantage through investments in market growth, product differentiation, and offering competitive pricing (Amanda et al., 2022). Finances are a central strategy for business owners to measure performance based on a business owner's ability to generate profit within an industry (Rachapaettayakom et al., 2020). Porter's five forces consist of businesses achieving profit by business owners conducting industry analysis and comparing the level of business power over rivalry of existing competition, the threat of new entrants, buyers' bargaining power, suppliers' bargaining power, and the threat of substitutes (Bartunek, 2020).

Applications to Professional Practice

The restaurant business is a highly competitive industry resulting in the need for small family business owners to implement strategies that will support stainability. Additionally, small family restaurant owners must implement strategies that support sustainability due to the considerable amount of existing competition, low barriers for new restaurant owners to enter the industry, and increased buyer power of consumers due to the feasibility of consumers switching products. The study findings indicated 4 common themes that other small business owner might apply to achieve sustainability beyond five years of beginning operations.

Based on my findings from this study and supporting literature, product quality and consistency, marketing, customer loyalty, and finances are critical strategies that current and future business proprietors can use to potentially improve business practices that support sustainability within a business industry. Business owners can use product quality and consistency to establish product differentiation, attract and retain customers, and increase profits. Future and current business proprietors can potentially build and establish clientele by using marketing strategies to promote business names, products and services and advertise special promotions and discounts. Customer loyalty strategies can assist businesses with building a solid customer base in which customers are motivated to return and make purchases consistently and frequently contributing to sustainability. Finally, business owners should implement financial strategies to manage and generate revenue and pay expenses to support sustainability.

Implications for Social Change

Small restaurant business owners are a major contributor to local communities' economic growth and development due to the numerous small restaurants operating within the restaurant industry (Dani et al., 2022). The literature review in this study showed that most small restaurant businesses need more strategies to achieve sustainability beyond 5 years of operations. The study results showed that some small family restaurant business owners use product quality and consistency, marketing, customer loyalty, and finances as critical strategies to sustain their business beyond five years of operations.

The implications for positive social change included the potential of small family restaurant business owners to contribute to local communities' economic growth and prosperity. Small family restaurant business owners might apply the findings of this study to support generating profit and sustainability, which may increase the need for employment opportunities and generate prosperity and economic growth in local communities.

Recommendations for Action

In my conducting the literature review and findings of this study, I showed the importance and benefits of small family restaurant owners developing strategies that can assist with the sustainability of their business beyond 5 years of operations. Based on the emergent outcomes of this study, my recommendations include potential and current small family restaurant business owners considering the benefits of implementing product quality and consistency, marketing, customer loyalty, and finances as strategies to assist

with the sustainability of their business. Other small business owners, potential entrepreneurs, and academic business scholars should review the study and consider the importance of using the four key themes to achieve business sustainability by establishing a competitive advantage within their business industry.

Based on my analysis of the participants' information, I also recommend that business owners focus on product quality and consistency as a strategy to attract and retain customers. The literature review findings showed that customers expect and value consistency in buying quality products and will seek to purchase substitute or similar products that meet their expectations from other businesses. Businesses exist to sell products and services to consumers, and the loss of customers affects business owners' profits and sustainability.

Small businesses can use marketing to promote the business name, products and services, building and maintaining a customer base. Participants indicated that market strategies enable them to promote their business name, products, special promotions, and discounts, and increased awareness of their existence due to changes in demographics, increased competition, and environmental changes. Small business owners should use marketing strategies, such as social media, flyers, and other technology, to build and promote their business, establish and reserve clientele and generate profit to sustain their business.

My findings of the study showed that customer loyalty is an essential strategy that participants use to achieve sustainability. Participants use customer loyalty programs to promote and encourage customers to return and purchase products consistently. Customer

loyalty is a good indicator that a business meets customer expectations and encourages other potential customers to purchase products for the business. The recommendations from the study include small business proprietors using customer loyalty to increase the likelihood of customers returning and buying products on a frequent and consistent basis to sustain their business.

Finally, I recommend that small business owners use finances as a strategy to plan and manage revenue and expenses. Small businesses should develop and implement a budget to assist with forecasting, planning, and monitoring efficient revenue to pay business expenses and show a profit. Results of the study show the importance of business owners generating sufficient profit to support growth, working capital, investments, and other business expenses to sustain the business.

It is essential to share the study results to potentially benefit other interest reviewers by providing them with insight into exploring a central research question that may be relevant to business sustainability. Based on the potential be benefits of this study for current and potential small business owners and business academic scholars, I plan to disseminate this study to participants and publish peer-reviewed journals such as ProQuest, professional restaurant business associations and Small Business Association. Additionally, I will seek opportunities to share results at business seminars and training and with business colleagues.

Recommendations for Further Research

Despite the relevant contribution of the study, interested audiences should consider conducting a quantitative or mixed method to test further the relevance of the

four identified themes with a larger population size. A major limitation of this study was the size sample due to time constraints. I selected five participants were chosen to represent small family restaurant business owners throughout the southwest region of Texas. The sample size for this study was relevant given the time constraints but limited the transferability of the findings. Recommendations would be for future researchers to conduct a similar study using a larger sample size to validate or identify other vital strategies that small family restaurant businesses or other small business owners might use to achieve sustainability.

Reflections

Despite the Doctoral Business Administrative study being a long and challenging process, I found it a rewarding experience. I developed a greater understanding of critical time management and planning. I experienced many personal and work obligations that compromised my study time. However, I had a strong support group and mentors, which assisted in my becoming a conqueror. I learned that mapping to the Walden DBA Rubric, developing and following interview protocols, and completing the IRB training assisted me with mitigating bias during the data collection and analysis process. A key lesson I learned was that collecting data using one-on-one interviews is challenging due to schedule conflicts and cancellations, resulting in the need to apply and offer participants more than one resource to conduct interviews, such as conference call, Zoom, or WebEx.

Conclusion

This qualitative multiple case study was aimed to explore strategies some small family restaurant business owners use to achieve sustainability beyond 5 years of

beginning operations. I used the methodological triangulation method to collect and analyze data, including face-to-face interviews via face to face, audiovisual, and conference calls. I applied the same analogy to conduct member checking. Upon achieving data saturation, I proceeded to analyze the data. The data analysis included labeling and coding data in which 4 main themes emerged. I linked the 4 primary themes to the literature review and Porter's five force analysis. In my study findings, I showed that product quality and consistency, marketing, customer loyalty, and finance might be critical strategies for small family-owned restaurant business owners to achieve sustainability beyond 5 years of operations.

References

- Abdolshah, M., Moghimi, M., & Khatibi, S. A. (2018). Investigating competitive advantage in banking industry based on Porter's generic strategies: IRANs newly established private banks. *International Journal of Applied Management Sciences and Engineering* (IJAMSE), *5*(1), 52-62.

 https://doi.org/10.4018/IJISSS.2018040104
- Adams, R., Jeanrenaud, S., Bessant, J., Denyer, D., & Overy, P. (2015). Sustainability-oriented innovation: A systematic review. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 18(2), https://doi.org/10.1111/ijmr.12068
- Adelakun, A. (2020). Should Porters five forces have value in businesses today. *Computing for Business (BSC) Aston University Birmingham*. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Andrew-Adelakun/publication/340771629
- Ahn, J. M., Minshall, T., & Mortara, L. (2015). Open innovation: A new classification and its impact on firm performance in innovative SMEes. *Journal of Innovation Management*, 3(2), 33-54. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2431205
- Aithal, P. S. (2017). ABCD analysis as research methodology in company case studies.

 International Journal of Management, Technology, and Social Studies, 2(2), 40-54. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.891621
- Alonso-Almeida, M. D. M., Bagur-Femenias, L., Llach, J., & Perramon, J. (2018).

 Sustainability in small tourist businesses: the link between initiatives and performance. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 21(1), 1-20.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13683500.2015.1066764

- Amanda, D. R., Fachira, I., & Iskandar, B. P. (2022). Proposed marketing strategy xyz to increase revenue in the covid-19 pandemic. *Syntax Literate; Jurnal Ilmiah Indonesia*, 7(4), 4928-4942. http://dx.doi.org/10.36418/syntax-literate.v7i4.6836
- Amato, C., Baron, R. A., Barbieri, B., Bélanger, J. J., & Pierro, A. (2017). Regulatory modes and entrepreneurship: the mediational role of alertness in small business success. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 55, 27-42.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12255
- Appiah, M. K., Possumah, B. T., Ahmat, N., & Sanusi, N. A. (2021). Do industry forces affect small and medium enterprise's investment in downstream oil and gas sector? Empirical evidence from Ghana. *Journal of African Business*, 22(1), 42-60. https://doi.org/10.1080/15228916.2020.1752599
- Arslan, I. K. (2020). The importance of creating customer loyalty in achieving sustainable competitive advantage. *Eurasian Journal of Business and Management*, 8(1), 11-20. https://doi.org/10.15604/ejbm.2020.08.01.002
- Aschemann-Witzel, J., De Hooge, I. E., Rohm, H., Normann, A., Bossle, M. B., Grønhøj, A., & Oostindjer, M. (2017). Key characteristics and success factors of supply chain initiatives tackling consumer-related food waste—A multiple case study. *Journal of cleaner production*, 155, 33-45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.11.173
- Ayanbadejo, M. (2020). How has COVID-19 impacted the evolution of cinemas? *General Management in Lockdown*, 1-6. http://www.fotojn.com/sites/default/files/em_student_project_tt20.docx.pdf#page

- Ayuso, S., & Navarrete-Báez, F. E. (2018). How does entrepreneurial and international orientation influence SMEs' commitment to sustainable development? Empirical evidence from Spain and Mexico. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, 25(1), 80-94. https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.1441
- Aziri, B., & Ismaili, R. (2020). Business environment analysis as a key stage in the process of strategic management. *ECONOMIC VISION-International Scientific Journal in Economics, Finance, Business, Marketing, Management and Tourism*, 7(13-14), 99-110. http://eprints.unite.edu.mk/id/eprint/665
- Bajkó, N., Fülöp, Z., & Pércsi, K. N. (2022). Changes in the innovation-and marketing-habits of family SMEs in the foodstuffs industry, caused by the coronavirus pandemic in Hungary. *Sustainability*, *14*(5). 1-17.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/su14052914
- Barbosa, M., Castañeda-Ayarza, J. A., & Ferreira, D. H. L. (2020). Sustainable strategic management (GES): Sustainability in small business. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 258, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.120880
- Bartik, A. W., Bertrand, M., Cullen, Z., Glaeser, E. L., Luca, M., & Stanton, C. (2020).

 The impact of COVID-19 on small business outcomes and
 expectations. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 117(30), 1765617666. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2006991117
- Bartunek, J. M. (2020). Accomplishing impact by performing our theories: It can be done, though not easily. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 56(1), 11-31.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886319885451

- Berendt, J., Uhrich, S., & Thompson, S. A. (2018). Marketing get ready to rumble: How rivalry promotes distinctiveness for brands and consumers. *Journal of Business Research*, 88, 161-172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.03.015
- Birru, A. C., Sudarmiatin, S., & Hermawan, A. (2022). Competitive strategies in the lodging service sector: Five porter analyses and case study SWOT analysis. *Journal of Business and Management Review*, *3*(1), 001-017. https://doi.org/10.47153/jbmr31.2732022
- Bliss, L. A. (2016). Phenomenological research: Inquiry to understand the meanings of people's experiences. *International Journal of Adult Vocational Education and Technology*), 7(3), 14-26. https://doi.org/10.4018/IJAVET.2016070102
- Bloomfield, J., & Fisher, M. J. (2019). Quantitative research design. *Journal of the Australasian Rehabilitation Nurses Association*, 22(2), 27-30. https://doi.org/10.33235/jarna.22.2.27-30
- Bocken, N. M., & Short, S. W. (2016). Towards a sufficiency-driven business model:

 Experiences and opportunities. *Environmental Innovation and Societal*Transitions, 18, 41-61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2015.07.010
- Brear, M. (2019). Process and outcomes of a recursive, dialogic member checking approach: a project ethnography. *Qualitative health research*, 29(7), 944-957. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318812448
- Brewer, P., & Sebby, A. G. (2021). The effect of online restaurant menus on consumers' purchase intentions during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of*

- Hospitality Management, 94, 102777. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2020.102777
- Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2016). *Entrepreneurship and the U.S. economy*. Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov/bdm
- Bushe, B. (2019). The causes and impact of business failure among small to micro and medium enterprises in South Africa. *Africa's Public Service Delivery and Performance Review*, 7(1), 1-26. https://doi.org/10.4102/apsdpr.v7i1.210
- Byrne, O., & Shepherd, D. A. (2015). Different strokes for different folks:

 Entrepreneurial narratives of emotion, cognition, and making sense of business failure. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, *39*(2), 375-405.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/etap.12046
- Caballero-Morales, S. O. (2021). Innovation as recovery strategy for SMEs in emerging economies during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Research in international business* and finance, 57, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ribaf.2021.101396
- Campbell, J. M., & Park, J. (2017). Extending the resource-based view: Effects of strategic orientation toward community on small business performance. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, *34*, 302-308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2016.01.013
- Carcary, M. (2020). The research audit trail: Methodological guidance for application in practice. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 18(2),166-177. https://doi.org/10.34190/JBRM.18.2.008
- Cater, J., & Young, M. (2016). Family factors in small family business growth. *Journal* of Management and Entrepreneurship, 21(4), 56.

http://dx.doi.org/10.9774/GLEAF.3709.2016.0C.00005

- Chen, Z. (2019). Supplier innovation in the presence of buyer power. *International Economic Review*, 60(1), 329-353. https://doi.org/10.1111/iere.12355
- Chesula, O. W., & Kiriinya, S. N. (2018). Competitiveness in the telecommunication sector in Kenya using Porters five forces model. *International Journal of Research in Finance and Marketing (IJRFM)*, 8(7), 1-10.

 http://euroasiapub.org/current.php?title=IJRFM
- Childs, M., & Jin B. (2018) Nike: An innovation journey. *Product Innovation in the Global Fashion Industry*, Palgrave Studies in Practice: Global Fashion Brand Management. https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-52349-54
- Choge, P. J., Namusonge, G., Nambuswa, E., & Makokha, E. G. M. (2018). The effect of organizational resources on organizational competitive advantage of the banking sector in Kenya. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 8(10), 739–760. http://dx.doi.org/10.6007/IJARBSS/v8-i10/4776
- Climent, R. C., & Haftor, D. M. (2021). Value creation through the evolution of business model themes. *Journal of Business Research*, 122, 353-361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.09.007
- Coda, R., de Castro Krakauer, P. V., & de França Berne, D. (2018). Are small business owners entrepreneurs? Exploring small business manager behavioral profiles in the São Paulo Metropolitan region. *RAUSP Management Journal*, *53*(2), 152-163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rausp.2017.05.011

- sustainability: Exploring a system dynamics perspective to develop sustainable business models. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 29(2), 651-664. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2395
- Cypress, B. (2018). Qualitative research methods: A phenomenological focus. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, *37*(6), 302-309. http://doi.org/10.1097/DCC.0000000000000322
- Custers, B. (2016). Click here to consent forever: Expiry dates for informed consent. *Big*Data & Society, 3(1), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1177/2053951715624935
- Dalirazar, S., & Sabzi, Z. (2020). Strategic analysis of barriers and solutions to development of sustainable buildings using PESTLE technique. *International Journal of Construction Management*, 23(1),167-3181. https://doi.org/10.1080/15623599.2020.1854931
- Dang, V. L., & Yeo, G. T. (2017). A competitive strategic position analysis of major container ports in Southeast Asia. *The Asian Journal of Shipping and Logistics*, 33(1), 19-25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajsl.2017.03.003
- Dani, R., Juyal, D., & Rawal, Y. S. (2022). A critical analysis of the restaurant industry's effect on environment sustainability. *Science Progress and Research*, 1(4), 435-442. https://doi.org/10.52152/spr/2021.165

- Demir, A. (2017). Importance of data analysis on achieving the organizational goals during the short-term strategic plan: Case of service quality and students' satisfaction level at Ishik University. *International Journal of Social Sciences and Educational Studies*, 3(3), 110-121. https://doi.org/10.23918/ijsses.v3i3p110
- Dempsey, L., Dowling, M., Larkin, P., & Murphy, K. (2016). Sensitive interviewing in qualitative research. *Research in Nursing & Health*, *39*(6), 480-490. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.21743
- Dhir, S., Ongsakul, V., Ahmed, Z. U., & Rajan, R. (2020). Integration of knowledge and enhancing competitiveness: A case of acquisition of Zain by Bharti

 Airtel. *Journal of Business Research*, 119, 674-684.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.02.056
- Dias, A., & Teixeira, A. A. (2017). The anatomy of business failure: A qualitative account of its implications for future business success. *European Journal of Management and Business Economics*, 26(1), 2-20.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/EJMBE-07-2017-001
- Dodgson, J. E. (2019). Reflexivity in qualitative research. *Journal of Human Lactation*, 35(2), 220-222. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890334419830990
- Doluca, H., Wagner, M., & Block, J. (2018). Sustainability and environmental behaviour in family firms: A longitudinal analysis of environment-related activities, innovation, and performance. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 27(1), 152-172. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.1998
- Dos Santos Morais, R., & Camello Lima, C. R. (2018). Quantitative tool for market

- sector strategic analysis. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 25(6), 1706-1728. https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-12-2016-0182
- Dowling, R., Lloyd, K., & Suchet-Pearson, S. (2016). Qualitative methods 1: Enriching the interview. *Progress in Human Geography*, 40(5), 679-686. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309132515596880
- D'Souza, C., & Taghian, M. (2018). Small and medium size firm's marketing competitive advantage and environmental initiatives in the middle east. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, 26(7), 568-582. https://doi.org/10.1080/0965254X.2017.1318945
- Earnest, D. (2020). Quality in qualitative research: An overview. *Indian Journal of Continuing Nursing Education*, 21(1), 76-80.

 https://www.ijcne.org/text.asp?2020/21/1/76/295045
- El-Adly, M. I. (2019). Modelling the relationship between hotel perceived value, customer satisfaction, and customer loyalty. Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services, *50*, 322-332. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2018.07.007
- Eltahir, O. A. B. (2018). Factors affecting the performance & business success of small & medium enterprises in sudan (Case study: Omdurman). *International Journal of Small Business and Entrepreneurship Research*, 6(6), 14-22.

 https://www.eajournals.org
- Elias, R., Leonard, W., & Mwakujonga, J. (2018). Determinants of owner-manager competencies for small business operations: Evidence from a small restaurant

- business in Tanzania. *Asian Business Research Journal*, *3*(1), 41-47. https://doi.org/10.20448/journal.518.2018.31.41.47
- Enthoven, M. P., & Brouwer, A. E. (2019). Investigating spatial concentration of sustainable restaurants: It is all about good food! *The Annals of Regional Science*, 64(575-594). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00168-019-00955-6
- Eshima, Y., & Anderson, B. S. (2017). Firm growth, adaptive capability, and entrepreneurial orientation. *Strategic Management Journal*, *38*(3), 770-779. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.2532
- Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5(1), 1-4. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- Farquhar, J., Michels, N., & Robson, J. (2020). Triangulation in industrial qualitative case study research: Widening the scope. *Industrial Marketing Management*. 87, 160-170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.02.001
- Ferdinand, D. Y. Y., & Tresyanto, C. A. (2020). Marketing strategy using Porters five force model approach: A case study at the culinary center in Sidoarjo Regency. *International Journal of Business and Management Invention*, 9(11), 44-48. https://doi.org/ 10.35629/8028-0911014448
- Fernández, E., Iglesias-Antelo, S., López-López, V., Rodríguez-Rey, M., & Fernandez-Jardon, C. M. (2019). Firm and industry effects on small, medium-sized, and large firms' performance. *BRQ Business Research Quarterly*. 22(1), 25-35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brq.2018.06.005

- Fernández-Olmos, M., & Ramírez-Alesón, M. (2017). How internal and external factors influence the dynamics of SME technology collaboration networks over time. *Technovation*, *64*, 16-27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2017.06.002
- Fischer, J., & Van de Bovenkamp, H. M. (2019). The challenge of democratic patient representation: Understanding the representation work of patient organizations through methodological triangulation. *Health policy*, *123*(1), 109-114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2018.11.011
- Fjeldstad, O. D., & Snow, C. C. (2018). Business models and organization design. *Long Range Planning*, 51(1), 32-39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2017.07.008
- Foss, N. J., & Saebi, T. (2017). Fifteen years of research on business model innovation: how far have we come, and where should we go? *Journal of Management*, 43(1), 200-227. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206316675927
- França, C. L., Broman, G., Robèrt, K. H., Basile, G., & Trygg, L. (2016). An approach to business model innovation and design for strategic sustainable development. *Journal of Cleaner Production*. *140*(1), 155-166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.06.124
- Gao, H., Yu, T., & Cannella Jr, A. A. (2017). Understanding word responses in competitive dynamics. *Academy of Management Review*, 42(1), 129-144. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2014.0211
- Gao, Y., Zhu, J., & Zhu, J. (2017). The influence of competition network structure and competitive behavior on customer performance-an empirical study based on Chinese catering industry. *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science and*

- Technology Education, 13(12), 8193-8203. https://doi.org/10.12973/ejmste/78103
- Gao, S., Tang, O., Wang, H., & Yin, P. (2018). Identifying competitors through comparative relation mining of online reviews in the restaurant industry. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 71, 19-32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2017.09.004
- Gauthier, J. (2017). Sustainable business strategies: Typologies and future directions.

 Society and Business Review, 12, 77-93. https://doi.org/10.1108/SBR-01-2016-0005
- Geissdoerfer, M., Savaget, P., Bocken, N. M., & Hultink, E. J. (2017). The circular economy–A new sustainability paradigm? *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *143*, 757-768. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.12.048
- Geissdoerfer, M., Vladimirova, D., & Evans, S. (2018). Sustainable business model innovation: A review. *Journal of cleaner production*, *198*, 401-416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.06.240
- George, R. V., Harsh, H. O., Ray, P., & Babu, A. K. (2019). Food quality traceability prototype for restaurants using blockchain and food quality data index. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 240, 118021.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.118021
- Ghosh, B., Kumuthadevi, K., & Jublee, D. (2016). Linkage among competitiveness, competitive advantage, and competitive priority of apparel export firms at Tirupur. *International Journal of Management Research and Reviews*, 6(8), 1012-1029. http://ijmrr.com

- Gnjidić, V. (2018). Interdependence of company's industrial competitive position and its strategic orientation: A dynamic theoretical model. *Management-Journal of Contemporary Management Issues*, 23(2), 103-120.
 https://doi.org/10.30924/mjcmi/2018.23.2.103
- González-Rodríguez, M. R., Jiménez-Caballero, J. L., Martín-Samper, R. C., Köseoglu, M. A., & Okumus, F. (2018). Revisiting the link between business strategy and performance: Evidence from hotels. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 72, 21-31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2017.11.008
- Gopichandran, R., Shah, V. N., Patel, N. J., & Harinarayana, T. (2013). SMEs can overcome challenges and improve sustainability through preventive management strategies: Some empirical evidence from a cluster of chemical industries in Western India. *International Journal of Globalisation and Small Business*, *5*(3), 209-223. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJGSB.2013.054894
- Goyal, A. (2020). A critical analysis of Porter's 5 forces model of competitive advantage. *Goyal, A. (2021) International Journal of Emerging Technologies and Innovative Research*, 7(7), 149-152. http://doi.one/10.1729/journal.25126
- Gur, F. A., & Greckhamer, T. (2018). Know thy enemy: A review and agenda for research on competitor identification. *Journal of Management*, 45(5), 2072-2100. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206317744250
- Gursoy, D., & Chi, C. G. (2020). Effects of COVID-19 pandemic on hospitality industry: review of the current situations and a research agenda. *Journal of Hospitality*Marketing & Management, 29(5), 527-529.

https://doi.org/10.1080/19368623.2020.1788231

- Hacklin, F., Björkdahl, J., & Wallin, M. W. (2018). Strategies for business model innovation: How firms reel in migrating value. *Long Range Planning*, 51(1), 82-110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2017.06.009
- Hallak, R., Assaker, G., O'Connor, P., & Lee, C. (2018). Firm performance in the upscale restaurant sector: The effects of resilience, creative self-efficacy, innovation, and industry experience. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 40, 229-240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2017.10.014
- Hamilton, A. B., & Finley, E. P. (2019). Qualitative methods in implementation research:

 An introduction. *Psychiatry research*, 280, 112-516.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2019.112629
- Hammersley, M. (2018). What is ethnography? Can it survive? Should it? *Ethnography* and *Education*, 13(1), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1080/17457823.2017.1298458
- Harrison, H., Birks, M., Franklin, R., & Mills, J. (2017). Case study research:

 Foundations and methodological orientations. *In Forum Qualitative Social forschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research 18*(1), 19.

 http://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-18.1.2655
- Hadi, M. A., & Closs, S. J. (2016). Ensuring rigor and trustworthiness of qualitative research in clinical pharmacy. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 38(3), 641-646. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11096-015-0237-6
- Heesen, R., Bright, L. K., & Zucker, A. (2019). Vindicating methodological triangulation. *Synthese*, 196(8), 3067-3081. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11229-016-

1294-7

- Hidayat, A., Adanti, A. P., Darmawan, A., & Setyaning, A. N. (2019). Factors
 influencing Indonesian customer satisfaction and customer loyalty in local fast-food restaurant. *International Journal of Marketing Studies*, 11(3), 131-139.
 https://doi.org/10.5539/ijms.v11n3p131
- Hobbs, J. E. (2020). Food supply chains during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics/Revue canadienne d'agroeconomie*, 68(2), 71-176. https://doi.org/10.1111/cjag.12237
- Hoekstra, J. C., & Leeflang, P. S. (2020). Marketing in the era of COVID-19. *Italian Journal of Marketing*, 2020(4), 249-260. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43039-020-00016-3
- Hörisch, J., Johnson, M. P., & Schaltegger, S. (2014). Implementation of sustainability management and company size: A knowledge based view. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 24(8), 765-779. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.1844
- Hou, J., Wang, C., & Luo, S. (2020). How to improve the competiveness of distributed energy resources in China with blockchain technology. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *151*, 119744.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2019.119744
- Howell, A. (2019). Ethnic entrepreneurship, initial financing, and business performance in China. Small Business Economics, 52, 697-712.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-017-9980-5

- Hughes-Morgan, M., Kolev, K., & Mcnamara, G. (2018). A meta-analytic review of competitive aggressiveness research. *Journal of Business Research*, 85, 73-82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.10.053
- Hurst, S., Arulogun, O. S., Owolabi, M. O., Akinyemi, R., Uvere, E., Warth, S., & Ovbiagele, B. (2015). Pretesting qualitative data collection procedures to facilitate methodological adherence and team building in Nigeria. *International journal of qualitative methods*, 14(1), 53-64. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691501400106
- Hyder, S., & Lussier, R. N. (2016). Why businesses succeed or fail: A study on small businesses in Pakistan. *Journal of Entrepreneurship in Emerging*Economies, 8(1), 82-100. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEEE-03-2015-0020
- Ikemefuna, M., & Enoch, M. (2016). Review of business plan of Domibite restaurant,

 Lokoja, Kogi State, Nigeria. *International Business and Management*, 13(3), 16
 21. http://dx.doi.org/10.3968/8848
- Irfan, M., Zhao, Z. Y., Ahmad, M., Batool, K., Jan, A., & Mukeshimana, M. C. (2019).

 Competitive assessment of Indian wind power industry: A five forces model. *Journal of Renewable and Sustainable Energy*, *11*(6), 063301. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5116237
- Islami, X., Mustafa, N., & Topuzovska Latkovikj, M. (2020). Linking Porter's generic strategies to firm performance. *Future Business Journal*, 6(1), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s43093-020-0009-1
- Jamshed, S. (2014). Qualitative research method-interviewing and observation. *Journal* of Basic and Clinical Pharmacy, 5(4), 87. https://doi.org/10.4103/0976-

0105.141942

- Jenkins, A., & McKelvie, A. (2016). What is entrepreneurial failure? Implications for future research. *International Small Business Journal*, 34(2), 176-188. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242615574011
- Jogaratnam, G. (2017). The effect of market orientation, entrepreneurial orientation, and human capital on positional advantage: Evidence from the restaurant industry. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 60, 104-113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2016.10.002
- Jogaratnam, G. (2018). Human capital, organizational orientations, and performance:

 Evidence from the restaurant industry. *International Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Administration*, 19(4), 416-439.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15256480.2017.1348920
- Johnson, J. L., Adkins, D., & Chauvin, S. (2020). A review of the quality indicators of rigor in qualitative research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 84(1), 1-22. https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7120
- Johnson, M. P., & Schaltegger, S. (2016). Two decades of sustainability management tools for SMEs: how far have we come? *Journal of Small Business*Management, 54(2), 481-505. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12154
- Juliana, J. P. E., & Nyoman, Y. N. (2019). Factors influencing competitiveness of small and medium industry of Bali: Porter's five forces analysis. *Russian Journal of Agricultural and Socio-Economic Sciences*, 89(5), 45-54.

 https://doi.org/10.18551/rjoas.2019-05.06

- Kabakova, O., & Plaksenkov, E. (2018). Analysis of factors affecting financial inclusion:

 Ecosystem view. *Journal of Business Research*, 89, 198-205.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.01.066
- Kallio, H., Pietilä, A. M., Johnson, M., & Kangasniemi, M. (2016). Systematic methodological review: Developing a framework for a qualitative semi-structured interview guide. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72(12), 2954-2965.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13031
- Karadag, H. (2015). Financial management challenges in small and medium-sized enterprises: A strategic management approach. *EMAJ: Emerging Markets Journal*, *5*(1), 26-40. https://doi.org/10.5195/emaj.2015.67.
- Karadag, H. (2015). The role and challenges of small and medium sized enterprises (Smes) in emerging economies: An analysis from Turkey. *Business and Management Studies*, 1(2), 179-188. http://dx.doi.org/10.11114/bms.v1i2.1049
- Khairawati, S. (2020). Effect of customer loyalty program on customer satisfaction and its impact on customer loyalty. *International Journal of Research in Business and Social Science* (2147-4478), 9(1), 15-23. https://doi.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v9i1.603
- Khan, S. N. (2014). Qualitative research method: Grounded Theory. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 9(11), 224-227. http://dx.doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v9n11p224
- Khan, K. U., Xuehe, Z., Atlas, F., & Khan, F. (2018). The impact of dominant logic and competitive intensity on SMEs performance: A case from China. *Journal of Innovation & Knowledge*, 4(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jik.2018.10.001

- Kharub, M., & Sharma, R. (2017). Comparative analyses of competitive advantage using Porter diamond model (the case of MSMEs in Himachal Pradesh).

 *Competitiveness Review: An International Business Journal, 27(2), 132-160. https://doi.org/10.1108/CR-02-2016-0007
- Khelil, N. (2016). The many faces of entrepreneurial failure: Insights from an empirical taxonomy. *Journal of Business Venturing*, *31*(1), 72-94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2015.08.001
- Kibaara, J. N., & Mote, M. P. (2020). Competitive strategies contributing to competitiveness of the Kenyan national museums: The case of Nairobi National Museums. *African Journal of Emerging Issues*, 2(10), 57-74.

 https://ajoeijournals.org/sys/index.php/ajoei/article/view/135
- Kim, J., Kim, J., & Wang, Y. (2021). Uncertainty risks and strategic reaction of restaurant firms amid COVID-19: Evidence from China. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 92, 102752. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2020.102752
- Kim, H., Sefcik, J. S., & Bradway, C. (2017). Characteristics of qualitative descriptive studies: A systematic review. *Research in nursing & health*, 40(1), 23-42. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.21768
- Kimanzi, M. K., & Gamede, V. W. (2020). Embracing the role of finance in sustainability for smes. *International Journal of Economics and Finance*, 12(2), 453-468. https://doi.org/10.34109/ijefs.202012213
- Klewitz, J., & Hansen, E. G. (2014). Sustainability-oriented innovation of SMEs: A systematic review. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 65, 57-75.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.07.017

- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1),

 120-124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Kozleski, E. B. (2017). The uses of qualitative research: Powerful methods to inform evidence-based practice in education. *Research and Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities*, 42(1), 19-32. https://doi.org/10.1177/1540796916683710
- Kross, J., & Giust, A. (2019). Elements of research questions in relation to qualitative inquiry. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(1), 24-30.

 https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol24/iss1/2
- Kuncoro, W., & Suriani, W. O. (2018). Achieving sustainable competitive advantage through product innovation and market driving. *Asia Pacific Management Review*, 23(3), 186-192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmrv.2017.07.006
- Kutllovci, E., & Shala, V. (2013). The role of strategic management on small business growth in Kosova. *International Journal of Business and Social Research*, 3(4), 87-92. https://doi.org/10.1016/0024-6301(81)90104-7
- Lacy, P., Haines, A., & Hayward, R. (2012). Developing strategies and leaders to succeed in a new era of sustainability. *Journal of Management Development*, 31(4), 346-357. https://doi.org/10.1108/02621711211218997
- Lanzolla, G., & Markides, C. (2020). A business model view of strategy. *Journal of Management Studies*, 58(2), 540-553. https://doi.org/10.1111/joms.12580
- Lawlor, D. A., Tilling, K., & Davey Smith, G. (2016). Triangulation in an etiological

- epidemiology. *International journal of epidemiology*, *45*(6), 1866-1886. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyw314
- LeBel, E. P., McCarthy, R. J., Earp, B. D., Elson, M., & Vanpaemel, W. (2018). A unified framework to quantify the credibility of scientific findings. *Advances in Methods and Practices in Psychological Science*, 1(3), 389-402. https://doi.org/10.1177/2515245918787489
- Lee, C., Hallak, R., & Sardeshmukh, S. R. (2016). Innovation, entrepreneurship, and restaurant performance: A higher-order structural model. *Tourism*Management, 53, 215-228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2015.09.017
- Lee, Y. K., Kim, S. H., Seo, M. K., & Hight, S. K. (2015). Market orientation and business performance: Evidence from franchising industry. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 44, 28-37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2014.09.008
- Lester, J. N., Cho, Y., & Lochmiller, C. R. (2020). Learning to do qualitative data analysis: A starting point. *Human Resource Development Review*, 19(1), 94-106. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484320903890
- Lin, M. S., Sharma, A., & Ouyang, Y. (2020). Role of signals in consumers' economic valuation of restaurant choices. *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism**Research, 44(7), 1080-1100. https://doi.org/10.1177/1096348020926238
- Linneberg, M. S., & Korsgaard, S. (2019). Coding qualitative data: A synthesis guiding the novice. *Qualitative research journal*, 19(3), 259-270.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-12-2018-0012
- Lipowski, M., Pastuszak, Z., & Bondos, I. (2018). Synergy of quantitative and qualitative

- marketing research— Capi and observation diary. *Econometrics*, 22(1), 58-67. https://doi.org/10.15611/eada.2018.1.04
- Lock, S. (2018). Restaurant and foodservice industry in the U.S. Statistics & Facts.

 Statista Dossier. https://www.statista.com/study/50978/us-restaurants-and-food-service-industry/
- Long, T. B., Looijen, A., & Blok, V. (2018). Critical success factors for the transition to business models for sustainability in the food and beverage industry in the Netherlands. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 175, 82-95.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.11.067
- Longenecker, J., Petty, J., Palich, L., & Hoy, F. (2013). Small business management.

 Stanford, CT: Cengage Learning. Retrieved from

 https://www.amazon.com/small-business-management-justin-longenecker/dp/1133947751
- López-Pérez, M. E., Melero, I., & Javier Sese, F. (2017). Management for sustainable development and its impact on firm value in the SME context: Does size matter? *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 26(7), 985-999. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.1961
- Lorenzo, J. R. F., Rubio, M. T. M., & Garcés, S. A. (2018). The competitive advantage in business, capabilities, and strategy. What general performance factors are found in the Spanish wine industry? *Wine Economics and Policy*. 7(2), 94-108.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wep.2018.04.001

- Lowe, A., Norris, A. C., Farris, A. J., & Babbage, D. R. (2018). Quantifying thematic saturation in qualitative data analysis. *Field Methods*, 30(3), 191-207. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X17749386
- Lüdeke-Freund, F., & Dembek, K. (2017). Sustainable business model research and practice: Emerging field or passing fancy? *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *168*, 1668-1678. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.08.093
- MacDonald, G., & Ryall, M. (2018). Do new entrants sustain, destroy, or create guaranteed profitability? *Strategic Management Journal*, *39*(6), 1630-1649. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.2770
- Madeira, A., Palrão, T., & Mendes, A. S. (2021). The Impact of Pandemic Crisis on the Restaurant Business. *Sustainability*, *13*(1), 40.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/su13010040
- Maharani, N. (2020). Strategy in Entering the Healthy Catering Industry: Case Study on Alfa Catering. *Asian Journal of Business and Entrepreneurship*, 1(02), 90-98. http://journal.i3l.ac.id/ojs/index.php/AJBE
- Maher, C., Hadfield, M., Hutchings, M., & de Eyto, A. (2018). Ensuring rigor in qualitative data analysis: A design research approach to coding combining NVivo with traditional material methods. *International Journal of Qualitative*Methods, 17(1), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918786362
- Malesev, S., & Cherry, M. (2021). Digital and social media marketing-growing market share for construction SMEs. *Construction Economics and Building*, 21(1), 65-82. https://doi.org/10.5130/AJCEB.v21i1.7521

- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2016). Sample size in qualitative interview studies: guided by information power. *Qualitative health* research, 26(13), 1753-1760. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315617444
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). Designing qualitative research (6th ed.).

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Martinez-Conesa, I., Soto-Acosta, P., & Carayannis, E. G. (2017). On the path towards open innovation: Assessing the role of knowledge management capability and environmental dynamism in SMEs. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 21(3), 553-570. https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-09-2016-0403
- Mas-Ruiz, F. J., & Ruiz-Moreno, F. (2017). How strategic groups act competitively within and across markets. *Managerial and Decision Economics*, 38(7), 1017-1032. https://doi.org/10.1002/mde.2842
- McKim, C. A. (2017). The value of mixed methods research: A mixed methods study. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 11(2), 202-222. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689815607096
- Medlin, C. J., & Ellegaard, C. (2015). Conceptualizing competition and rivalry in a networking business market. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 51, 131-140. https://doi.org/10.46281/ijbmf.v2i1.238
- Mehjabeen, L. (2018). Assessing attractiveness of banking industry of Bangladesh by applying Porter's 5 forces model. *International Journal of Business and Management Future*, 2(1), 55-62. https://doi.org/10.46281/ijbmf.v2i1.238
- Melander, L. (2020). Chapter 2: Success factors for environmentally sustainable product

- innovation. *Innovation Strategies in Environmental Science*, 33-67. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-817382-4.00002-2
- Mendocilla, M., Miravitlles Matamoros, P., & Matute, J. (2021). QUICKSERV: a service quality assessment tool for the quick-service restaurant industry. *British Food Journal*, 123(13), 241-259. https://doi.org/10.1108/BFJ-12-2020-1108
- Mennens, K., Van Gils, A., Odekerken-Schröder, G., & Letterie, W. (2018). Exploring antecedents of service innovation performance in manufacturing SMEs.

 International Small Business Journal, 36(5), 500-520.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242617749687
- Meyer, M. N. (2018). Practical tips for ethical data sharing. *Advances in Methods and Practices in Psychological Science*, *I*(1), 131-144.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/2515245917747656
- Mohamad Radzi, K., Mohd Nor, M.N., and Mohezar Ali, S. (2017). The impact of internal factors on small business success: A case of small enterprises under the FELDA scheme. Asian Academy of Management Journal, 22(1), 27–55.
 https://doi.org/10.21315/aamj2017.22.1.2
- Mondliwa, P., Roberts, S., & Ponte, S. (2021). Competition and power in global value chains. *Competition & Change*, 25(3-4), 328-349. https://doi.org/10.1177/1024529420975154
- Moore, J. E., Mascarenhas, A., Bain, J., & Straus, S. E. (2017). Developing a comprehensive definition of sustainability. *Implementation Science*, 12(1), 110. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-017-0637-1

- Moreno-Izquierdo, L., Ramón-Rodríguez, A. B., & Perles-Ribes, J. F. (2016). Pricing strategies of the European low-cost carriers explained using Porter's five forces model. *Tourism Economics*, 22(2), 293-310. https://doi.org/10.5367/te.2016.0551
- Morris, J. E., & Paris, L. F. (2022). Rethinking arts-based research methods in education: enhanced participant engagement processes to increase research credibility and knowledge translation. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 45(1), 99-112. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2021.1926971
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(9), 1212-1222. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315588501
- Moses, A., & Osunsan, O. (2018). Product innovation, price level and competitive advantage: A perception assessment of beer products. *Jurnal Manjemen Dan Kewirausahaan*, 6(1), 2), 26-34. https://doi.org/10.26905/jmdk.v6i1.2189
- Muazu, M. H., & Shehu, U. R. (2021). Small and medium enterprises growth and competitiveness: The importance of marketing strategies role. *Journal of Social Transformation and Regional Development*, *3*(2), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.30880/jstard.2021.03.02.001
- Mugo, P. (2020). Porter's five forces influence on competitive advantage in telecommunication industry in Kenya. *European Journal of Business and Strategic Management*, 5(2), 30-49. https://doi.org/10.47604/ejbsm.1140
- Muhonza, P. B., Kiriri, P. N., & Njenga, K. M. (2021). Business vision on competitive advantage: A case of firms in the financial services sector in Kenya. *The*

University Journal, 3(1), 135-156. Retrieved from

https://journals.daea.or.ke/index.php/tuj/article/view/33

- Mun, S. G., & Jang, S. S. (2018). Restaurant operating expenses and their effects on profitability enhancement. *International Journal of Hospitality*Management, 71(4), 68-76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2017.12.002
- Munthe-Kaas, H., Nøkleby, H., & Nguyen, L. (2019). Systematic mapping of checklists for assessing transferability. *Systematic reviews*, 8(1), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-018-0893-4
- Naderi, I., Paswan, A. K., & Guzman, F. (2018). Beyond the shadow of a doubt: The effect of consumer knowledge on restaurant evaluation. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer. Services*, 45, 221-229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2018.09.004
- Nassaji H. Good. (2020). Good qualitative research. *Language Teaching Research*. 24(4), 427-431. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362168820941288
- National Restaurant Association. (2015). *News and Research: Facts at a glance*.

 Retrieved from http://www.restaurant.org/News-Research/Research/Facts-at-a-Glance
- National Restaurant Association. (2016). *News and Research: Facts at a glance*.

 Retrieved from http://www.restaurant.org/News-Research/Research/Facts-at-a-Glance
- National Restaurant Association. (2017). *News and research: Facts at a glance*.

 Retrieved from http://www.restaurant.org/News-Research/Research/Facts-at-a-Glance

National Restaurant Association. (2018). News and research: Facts at a glance.

http://www.restaurant.org/News-Research/Research/Facts-at-a-Glance

National Restaurant Association (2019). News and research: Facts at a glance

https://restaurant.org/research/restaurant-statistics/restaurant-industry-facts-at-a-glance

National Restaurant Association (2021). News and research: Facts at a glance

https://restaurant.org/research/restaurant-statistics/restaurant-industry-facts-at-a-glance

- Ndiaye, N., Razak, L. A., Nagayev, R., & Ng, A. (2018). Demystifying small and medium enterprises' (SMEs) performance in emerging and developing economies. Borsa Istanbul Review, *18*(4), 269-281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bir.2018.04.003
- Nemeschansky, B. (2020). Listen to your customer-how to manage your restaurant more effectively. *Journal of Foodservice Business Research*, 23(1), 17-45. https://doi.org/10.1080/15378020.2019.1671119
- Nel, J., Williams, A., Steyn, R., & Hind, C. (2018). Customer experiences and expectations of sit-down restaurants: An auto-ethnographic perspective on restaurant failure. *African Journal of Hospitality, Tourism and Leisure*, 7(3), 1-16. https://www.ajhtl.com/uploads/7/1/6/3/7163688/article_7_vol_7_3__2018.pdf
- Neyoy, J. E. G., Rodríguez, L. F., & Castro, Decision support system for a SME in the restaurant sector: Development of a prototype. *In Information Systems and Technologies (CISTI)*, 6(12), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.23919/CISTI.2017.7975831
- Nicolaou, C. (2021). Qualitative methods research through the Internet Applications and Services: The contribution of audiovisual media technology as technology-

- enhanced research. *International Research in Higher Education*, *6*(1), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.5430/irhe.v6n1p1
- Nishioka, K., Gemba, K., Uenishi, K., & Kaga, A. (2018). Competitive strategy of family businesses through CSV–case study of a family business in Mie Prefecture,

 Japan. *International Journal of Business and Systems Research*, 12(2), 226-241.

 https://doi.org/10.1504/IJBSR.2018.090698
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1), https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847
- Obeidat, A. M. (2021). E-Marketing and its impact on the competitive advantage.

 Elementary Education Online, 20(5), 196-207.

 https://doi.org/10.17051/ilkonline.2021.05.1
- Ogbadu, E. E., Aduku, D. J., & Nafiu, A. T. (2017). Small Firms' Strategy Adoption and Business Outcomes in Business Games: An Empirical Investigation from Nigeria.

 *Asian Journal of Economics, Business and Accounting, 4(1): 1-13.

 https://doi.org/10.9734/AJEBA/2017/34233
- O'Leary, Z. (2018). Research proposal: Little quick fix. Sage.
- Oliveira, M. V., & Oliveira, A. V. (2018). What drives effective competition in the airline industry? An empirical model of city-pair market concentration. *Transport Policy*, 63, 165-175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2017.12.021
- Omsa, S., Abdullah, I. H., & Jamali, H. (2017). Five competitive forces model and the implementation of Porter's generic strategies to gain firm performances. *Science*

- Journal of Business and Management, 5(1), 9-16. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.sjbm.20170501.12
- Ong, J. W., Ismail, H., & Yeap, P. F. (2018). Competitive advantage and firm performance: the moderating effect of industry forces. *International Journal of Business Performance Management*, 19(4), 385-407.

 https://doi.org/10.1504/IJBPM.2018.095069
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., Gerber, H. R., & Schamroth Abrams, S. (2017). Mixed methods research. *The International Encyclopedia of Communication Research Methods*, 1-33. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118901731.iecrm0156
- Opinya, H. J. (2015). Factors influencing growth of small business: A case study of Nakura town. *Strategic Journal of Business & Change Management*, 2(1), 592-608. Retrieved from http://www.strategicjournals.com/index.php/journal/article/view/102
- Page, J., & Söderbom, M. (2015). Is small beautiful? Small enterprise, aid, and employment in Africa. *African Development Review*, 27(S1), 44-55. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8268.12138
- Pan, Y., Huang, P., & Gopal, A. (2017). New entry threats and firm performance in the IT industry: The moderating role of board independence. *Academy of Management*, ICIS 2017 Proceedings. 6.

 https://doi.org/10.5465/AMBPP.2017.12179abstract
- Parsa, H. G., Kreeger, J. C., van der Rest, J. P., Xie, L. K., & Lamb, J. (2019). Why restaurants fail? Part V: Role of economic factors, risk, density, location, cuisine,

health code violations and GIS factors. *International Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Administration*, 2(2)142-167.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15256480.2019.1598908

- Panwar, R., Nybakk, E., Pinkse, J., & Hansen, E. (2015). Being good when not doing well Examining the effect of the economic downturn on small manufacturing firms' ongoing sustainability-oriented initiatives. *Organization & Environment*, 28(2), 204-222. https://doi.org/10.1177/1086026615573842
- Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods: Discovery or justification? *Journal of Marketing Thought*, *3*(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1
- Parsa, H. G., van der Rest, J. P. I., Smith, S. R., Parsa, R. A., & Bujisic, M. (2014). Why restaurants fail? Part IV: The relationship between restaurant failures and demographic factors. *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, *56*(1), 80-90. https://doi.org/10.1177/1938965514551959
- Patlins, A. (2017). Improvement of sustainability definition facilitating sustainable development of public transport system. *Procedia engineering*, 192, 659-664. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2017.06.114
- Patten, M. L., & Newhart, M. (2017). *Understanding research methods: An overview of the essentials*. (10th ed.). Routledge
- Paul, J., & Criado, A. R. (2020). The art of writing literature review: What do we know and what do we need to know? *International Business Review*, 29(4), 101717. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2020.101717

- Pedersen, E. R. G., Gwozdz, W., & Hvass, K. K. (2018). Exploring the relationship between business model innovation, corporate sustainability, and organizational values within the fashion industry. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *149*(2), 267-284. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-016-3044-7
- Pervan, M., Curak, M., & Pavic Kramaric, T. (2018). The influence of industry characteristics and dynamic capabilities on firms' profitability. *International Journal of Financial Studies*, 6(1), 1-19. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijfs6010004
- Peterson, J. S. (2019). Presenting a qualitative study: A reviewer's perspective. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 63(3), 147-158. https://doi.org/10.1177/0016986219844789
- Phadermrod, B., Crowder, R. M., & Wills, G. B. (2019). Importance-performance analysis based SWOT analysis. *International Journal of Information*Management, 44, 194-203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2016.03.009
- Ploder, A., & Hamann, J. (2021). Practices of ethnographic research: Introduction to the special issue. *Journal of Contemporary Ethnography*, *50(1)*, 3-10. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891241620979100
- Porter, M. E. (1989). How competitive forces shape strategy. *In Readings in strategic* management (pp. 133-143). Palgrave
- Porter, M. E. (2008). The five competitive forces that shape strategy. *Harvard Business Review*, 86(1), 78-93. https://hbr.org/2008/01/the-five-competitive-forces-that-shape-strategy
- Pulaj, E. (2017). The impact of industry variables on company's performance. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 8(1), 202-209.

https://doi/10.5901/mjss.2017.v8n1p202

- Putra, E. D., & Cho, S. (2019). Characteristics of small business leadership from employees' perspective: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 78(4), 36-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.11.011
- Raab, C., Baloglu, S., & Chen, Y. S. (2018). Restaurant managers' adoption of sustainable practices: An application of institutional theory and theory of planned behavior. *Journal of foodservice business research*, 21(2), 154-171. https://doi.org/10.1080/15378020.2017.1364591
- Rachapaettayakom, P., Wiriyapinit, M., Cooharojananone, N., Tanthanongsakkun, S., & Charoenruk, N. (2020). The need for financial knowledge acquisition tools and technology by small business entrepreneurs. *Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship*, 9(1), 1-28. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13731-020-00136-2
- Rahman, M. S. (2019). An Analysis of Smart-Phone Industry in Bangladesh Using Porter's Five Forces Model. *Open Access Library Journal*, 6(09), 1. https://doi/10.4236/oalib.1105730
- Ralph, N., Birks, M., & Chapman, Y. (2015). The methodological dynamism of grounded theory. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 14(4), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406915611576
- Rauch, A., Doorn, R., & Hulsink, W. (2014). A qualitative approach to evidence-based entrepreneurship: Theoretical considerations and an example involving business clusters. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, *38*(2), 333-368.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/etap.12093

- Revilla, A. J., Pérez-Luño, A., & Nieto, M. J. (2016). Does family involvement in management reduce the risk of business failure? The moderating role of entrepreneurial orientation. *Family Business Review*, 29(4), 365-379. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894486516671075
- Ribeiro-Soriano, D. (2017). Small business and entrepreneurship: their role in economic and social development. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development 29*(1-2), 1-3. https://doi.org/10.1080/08985626.2016.1255438
- Riese, J. (2019). What is 'access' in the context of qualitative research? *Qualitative Research*, 19(6), 669-684. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794118787713
- Rosenthal, M. (2016). Qualitative research methods: Why, when, and how to conduct interviews and focus groups in pharmacy research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 8(4), 509-516. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2016.03.021
- Richards, K. A. R., & Hemphill, M. A. (2018). A practical guide to collaborative qualitative data analysis. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*, *37*(2), 225-23. https://doi.org/10.1123/jtpe.2017-0084
- Roberts RE. (2020). Qualitative interview questions: Guidance for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*. 25(9), 3185-3203. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2020.4640
- Rose, J., & Johnson, C. W. (2020). Contextualizing reliability and validity in qualitative research: toward more rigorous and trustworthy qualitative social science in leisure research. *Journal of Leisure Research*, *51*(4), 432-451. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2020.1722042

- Ross, P.T., Bibler Zaidi, N.L. (2019). Limited by our limitations. *Perspect Med Educ* 8, 261–264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-00530-x
- Rua, O., França, A., & Ortiz, R. F. (2018). Key drivers of SMEs export performance: The mediating effect of competitive advantage. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 22(2), 257-279. https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-07-2017-0267
- Sadeghi, A. (2018). Success factors of high-tech SMEs in Iran: A fuzzy MCDM approach. *The Journal of High Technology Management Research*, 29(1), 71-87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hitech.2018.04.007
- Sah, L. K., Singh, D. R., & Sah, R. K. (2020). Conducting Qualitative Interviews using
 Virtual Communication Tools amid COVID-19 Pandemic: A Learning
 Opportunity for Future Research. *Journal of the Nepal Medical* Association, 58(232), 1103-1106. https://doi.org/10.31729/jnma.5738
- Sah, L. K., Singh, D. R., & Sah, R. K. (2020). Conducting qualitative interviews using virtual communication tools amid COVID-19 pandemic: A learning opportunity for future research. *JNMA: Journal of the Nepal Medical Association*, 58(232), 1103. https://doi.org/10.31729/jnma.5738
- Sahir, S. H., & Rosmawati, R. (2020). Improve marketing mix for marketing plan strategic in coffeeshop business. *Management Analysis Journal*, 9(4), 459-466. https://doi.org/10.15294/maj.v9i4.42613
- Sallem, N. R. M., Nasir, N. E. M., Nori, W. M. N. W. M., & Kassim, C. K. H. C. K. (2017). Small and medium enterprises: Critical problems and possible solutions. *International Business Management*, 11(1), 47-52.

https://dx.doi.org/10.36478/ibm.2017.47.52

- Saloi, T., & Barman, D. K. (2020). Attractiveness of Bell metal industry in ASSAM: A study with special reference to Sathebari area in Assam. *International Journal of Management*, 11(10), 1672-1679. https://doi.org/10.34218/ijm.11.10.2020.152
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., Burroughs, H., & Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & quantity*, 52(4), 1893–1907. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8
- Schaltegger, S., Hansen, E. G., & Lüdeke-Freund, F. (2016). Business models for sustainability: Origins, present research, and future avenues. *Organization & Environment*, 29(1), 3-10. https://doi.org/10.1177/1086026615599806
- Schimmenti, E., Migliore, G., Di Franco, C. P., & Borsellino, V. (2016). Is there sustainable entrepreneurship in the wine industry? Exploring Sicilian wineries participating in the SOStain program. *Wine Economics and Policy*, *5*(1), 14-23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wep.2016.05.001
- Sebele-Mpofu, F. Y. (2020). Saturation controversy in qualitative research: Complexities and underlying assumptions. A literature review. *Cogent Social Sciences*, 6(1), 1838706. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311886.2020.1838706
- Shaw, D., & Satalkar, P. (2018). Researchers' interpretations of research integrity: A qualitative study. *Accountability in Research*, 25(2), 79-93. https://doi.org/10.1080/08989621.2017.1413940
- Sheth, J. (2020). Impact of Covid-19 on consumer behavior: Will the old habits return or

- die? *Journal of Business Research*, *117*, 280-283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.05.059
- Shields, J., & Shelleman, J. M. (2015). Integrating sustainability into SME strategy. *Journal of Small Business Strategy*, 25(2), 59-75. https://libjournals.mtsu.edu/index.php/jsbs/article/view/561
- Shoaib, S., & Mujtaba, B. G. (2016). Use it or lose it: prudently using case study as a research and educational strategy. *American Journal of 122 Education and Learning*, 1(2), 81-91. https://doi.org/10.20448/804.1.2.83.93
- Shokeen, S. (2016). Porter's model: A critical examination. *International Journal of Engineering and Management Research (IJEMR)*, 6(3), 178-183.

 https://www.indianjournals.com/ijor.aspx?target=ijor:ijemr&volume=6&issue=3
 &article=031
- Siren, C. A., Kohtamäki, M., & Kuckertz, A. (2012). Exploration and exploitation strategies, profit performance, and the mediating role of strategic learning:

 Escaping the exploitation trap. *Strategic Entrepreneurship Journal*, 6(1), 18-41.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/sej.1126
- Sitanggang, J. M., Sinulingga, S., & FAchruddin, K. A. (2019). Analysis of the effect of product quality on customer satisfaction and customer loyalty of Indihome ATPT Telkom Regional 1 Sumatera, Medan, North Sumatra, Indonesia. *American International Journal of Business Management*, 2(3), 26-37. https://www.aijbm.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/C232637.pdf
- Skjott Linneberg, M. and Korsgaard, S. (2019), Coding qualitative data: a synthesis

- guiding the novice, *Qualitative Research Journal*, 19(3), 259-270. https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-12-2018-0012
- Smith, B., & McGannon, K. R. (2018). Developing rigor in qualitative research:

 Problems and opportunities within sport and exercise psychology. *International review of sport and exercise psychology*, 11(1), 101-121.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/1750984X.2017.1317357
- Sofyan, M., & Fantini, E. (2021). Magetan Regency MSME strategy in the new normal. *International Journal of Economics, Management, Business and Social Science*, *I*(1), 121-125. https://cvodis.com/ijembis/index.php/ijembis
- Stints, D., Quariguasi Frota Neto, J., Nuss, C., Dirr, M., Jakowczyk, M., Gibson, A., & Tuma, A. (2017). On the attractiveness of product recovery: The forces that shape reverse markets. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, 21(4), 980-994. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12473
- Strange, R. (2020). The 2020 Covid-19 pandemic and global value chains. *Journal of Industrial and Business Economics*, 47, 455-465. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40812-020-00162-x
- Strenitzerová, M., & Gaňa, J. (2018). Customer satisfaction and loyalty as a part of customer-based corporate sustainability in the sector of mobile communications services. *Sustainability*, *10*(5), 1657. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10051657
- Sun, K. A., & Lee, S. (2019). Competitive advantages of franchising firms and the moderating role of organizational characteristics: Evidence from the restaurant industry. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 77, 281-289.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.07.007

- Sun, K. A., & Lee, S. (2021). How does franchising alter competition in the restaurant industry? *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 46, 468-475. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2021.02.002
- Taherdoost, H., & Brard, A. (2019). Analyzing the process of supplier selection criteria and methods. *Procedia Manufacturing*, *32*, 1024-1034. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2019.02.317
- Takata, H. (2016). Effects of industry forces, market orientation, and marketing capabilities on business performance: An empirical analysis of Japanese manufacturers from 2009 to 2011. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(12), 5611-5619. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.03.068
- Teece, D. J. (2018). Business models and dynamic capabilities. *Long Range Planning*, 51(1), 40-49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2017.06.007
- Tewari, R., & Pathak, T. S. (2014). Sustainable csr for micro, small and medium enterprises. *Journal of Management & Public Policy*, 6(1), 34-44. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2600570
- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155-163. http://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- Thomas, M., & Pettitt, N. (2017). Informed consent in research on second language acquisition. *Second Language Research*, *33*(2), 271-288. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267658316670206

- Tien, N. H., Jose, R. J. S., RafalKuc, B., & Dana, L. P. (2021). Customer care and customer relationship maintenance at Gamuda Land Celadon City real estate project in Vietnam. *Turkish Journal of Computer and Mathematics Education* (*TURCOMAT*), *12*(14), 4905-4915. Retrieved from https://turcomat.org/index.php/turkbilmat/article/view/11457
- To, C., Kilduff, G. J., Ordoñez, L., & Schweitzer, M. E. (2018). Going for it on fourth down: Rivalry increases risk taking, physiological arousal, and promotion focus.

 Academy of Management Journal, 61(4), 1281-1306.

 https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2016.0850
- Tomaszewski, L. E., Zarestky, J., & Gonzalez, E. (2020). Planning qualitative research: design and decision making for new researchers. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19,1-7. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920967174
- Torres, R., Sidorova, A., & Jones, M. C. (2018). Enabling firm performance through business intelligence and analytics: A dynamic capabilities perspective. *Information & Management*, 55(7), 822-839.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2018.03.010
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2018.03.010
- Turner, S., & Endres, A. (2017). Strategies for enhancing small business owners' success rates. *International Journal of Applied Management and Technology*, *16*(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.5590/IJAMT.2017.16.1.03
- Uddin, M.B. (2019), Customer loyalty in the fast food restaurants of Bangladesh. *British Food Journal*, 121(11), 2791-2808. https://doi.org/10.1108/BFJ-02-2019-0140
 Uhlenbruck, K., Hughes-Morgan, M., Hitt, M. A., Ferrier, W. J., & Brymer, R. (2017).

- Rivals' reactions to mergers and acquisitions. *Strategic Organization*, *15*(1), 40-66. https://doi.org/10.1177/1476127016630526
- Ulubeyli, S. (2017). Industry-wide competitiveness assessment through fuzzy synthetic evaluation: the case of cement industry. *Journal of Business Economics and Management*, 18(1), 35-53. https://doi.org/10.3846/16111699.2016.1218927
- Unluer, S. (2012). Being an insider researcher while conducting case study research. *The Qualitative Report*, 17(29), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2012.1752
- Utami, R. M., & Lantu, D. C. (2014). Development competitiveness model for small-medium enterprises among the creative industry in Bandung. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 115, 305-323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.02.438
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2016). *Small business profile*. https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/advocacy/US_0_0.pdf
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2019). Frequently asked questions.
 https://cdn.advocacy.sba.gov/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/23172241/Frequently-Asked-Questions-Small-Business-20191.pdf
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2019). 2019 Small Businesses Profile.
 https://cdn.advocacy.sba.gov/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/23142719/2019-Small-Business-Profiles-US.pdf
- Van Manen, M. (2017). But is it phenomenology? *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(6), 775–779. https://doi/10.1177/1049732317699570
- Vasquez, D. (2014). Employee retention for economic stabilization: A qualitative phenomenological study in the hospitality sector. *International Journal of*

- Management, Economics and Social Sciences, 3(1), 1-17. http://hdl.handle.net/10419/93235
- Verreynne, M. L., Meyer, D., & Liesch, P. (2016). Beyond the formal–informal dichotomy of small firm strategy-making in stable and dynamic environments.

 Journal of Small Business Management, 54(2), 420-444.

 https://doi/10.1111/jsbm.12143
- Vlados, C., & Chatzinikolaou, D. (2019). Methodological redirections for an evolutionary approach of the external business environment. *Journal of Management & Sustainability*, 9(2), 25-46. https://doi.org/10.5539/jms.v9n2p25
- Wagner, S. M., Mizgier, K. J., & Papageorgiou, S. (2017). Operational disruptions and business cycles. *International journal of production economics*, 183, 66-78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2016.10.002
- Walker, P. H., Seuring, P. S., Sarkis, P. J., & Klassen, P. R. (2014). Sustainable operations management: Recent trends and future directions. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, *34*(5), 1506-1536. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-12-2013-0557
- Wang, Y. (2016). What are the biggest obstacles to growth of SMEs in developing countries? –An empirical evidence from an enterprise survey. *Borsa Istanbul Review*, 16(3), 167-176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bir.2016.06.001
- Wang, M. H., & Yang, T. Y. (2016). Investigating the success of knowledge management: An empirical study of small-and medium-sized enterprises. Asia Pacific Management Review, 21(2), 79-91.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmrv.2015.12.003

- Wantara, P., & Tambrin, M. (2019). The effect of price and product quality towards customer satisfaction and customer loyalty on madura batik. *International Tourism and Hospitality Journal*, 2(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.30574/wjarr.2022.14.2.0486
- Weber, P., Geneste, L. A., & Connell, J. (2015). Small business growth: Strategic goals and owner preparedness. *Journal of Business Strategy*, *36*(3), 30-36. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBS-03-2014-0036
- Widadi, B., Hamid, N., Savitri, F. M., Perwita, A. D., & Barreto, D. M. (2021). Customer loyalty establishment model based on corporate social responsibility (CSR) program in Timor Leste. Webology, 18(3), 299-321. https://doi.org/
 10.14704/WEB/V18SI03/WEB18042
- Wiesche, M., Jurisch, M. C., Yetton, P. W., & Krcmar, H. (2017). Grounded theory methodology in information systems Research. MIS Quarterly, 41(3), 685-701. http://dx.doi.org/10.25300/MISQ/2017/41.3.02
- Williams, S. & Schaefer, A. (2013). Small and medium sized enterprises and sustainability: Managers' values and engagement with environmental and climate change issues. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 22(3), 173-186. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.1740
- Wirtz, B. W., Pistoia, A., Ullrich, S., & Göttel, V. (2016). Business models: Origin, development, and future research perspectives. *Long range planning*, 49(1), 36-54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2015.04.001

- Wonginchan, S., & Promphakping, B. (2017). The factors influence to competitive performance of small firms using the internet in Northeastern

 Thailand. *International Review of Management and Marketing*, 7(4), 156-162. https://medwelljournals.com/abstract/?doi=ibm.2018.126.131
- Woods, M., Paulus, T., Atkins, D. P., & Macklin, R. (2015). Advancing qualitative research using qualitative data analysis software (QDAS)? Reviewing potential versus practice in published studies using ATLAS.ti and NVivo, 1994–2013. *Social Science Computer Review*. *34*(5), 597-617. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894439315596311
- Wu, K. J., Tseng, M. L., Chiu, A. S., & Lim, M. K. (2017). Achieving competitive advantage through supply chain agility under uncertainty: A novel multi-criteria decision-making structure. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 190, 96-107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2016.08.027
- Yang, W., & Meyer, K. E. (2018). How does ownership influence business growth? A competitive dynamics perspective. *International Business Review*, 28(5), 101482. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2018.02.009
- Yawar, S. A., & Seuring, S. (2015). Management of social issues in supply chains: A literature review exploring social issues, actions, and performance outcomes. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *141*(3), 1-23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2719-9
- Yeong, M. L., Ismail, R., Ismail, N. H., & Hamzah, M. I. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi-racial

- populations in Malaysia. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(11), 2700-2713. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2018.3412
- Yiannakopoulos, Y., Magoutas, A., & Chountalas, P. (2017). Strategic competition analysis and group mapping: The case of the Greek insurance industry. *East-West Journal of Economics and Business*, 20(1), 41-65.

 https://ssrn.com/abstract=3061512
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Qualitative research from start to finish (2nd ed.). Guilford Press Yustian, O., Suryana, S., Furqon, C., & Hendrayati, H. (2021). The mediating role of competitiveness between entrepreneurial competence and business success. Management Science Letters, 11(1), 93-100. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.8.026
- Zainal-Abidin, H. A., & Mohd-Roslin, R. (2020). An internal marketing-based view of Porter's model of competitive advantage: The conceptual framework. *International Journal of Business and Technology Management*, 2(3), 58-67. http://myjms.mohe.gov.my/index.php/ijbtm
- Zairul, M. (2021). Can member check be verified in real time? Introducing arc (asking, record, confirm) for member checking validation strategy in qualitative research. *Engineering Journal*, 25(1), 245-251.

 https://doi.org/10.4186/ej.2021.25.1.245
- Zalaghi, H., Godini, M., & Mansouri, K. (2019). The moderating role of firms characteristics on the relationship between working capital management and financial performance. *Advances in Mathematical Finance and Applications*, 4(1),

71-88. https://doi:10.22034/AMFA.2019.581878.115

Zhang, H., Zhang, J., Yang, Y., & Zhou, Q. (2018). Bargaining power in tourist shopping. *Journal of Travel Research*, *57*(7), 947-961. https://doi.org/10.1177/0047287517724917

Zhao, Z. Y., Zuo, J., Wu, P. H., Yan, H., & Zillante, G. (2016). Competitiveness assessment of the biomass power generation industry in China: A five forces model study. *Renewable Energy*, 89, 144-153.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2015.12.035

Appendix A: Letter of Invitation

Letter of Invitation

Walden University DBA Student

[Insert date]

[Company name]

[Company Address]

[City, State, Zip code]

Dear [insert name]:

I am a doctoral student at Walden University. I am conducting a doctoral research study entitled Strategies for Sustaining Small Family Restaurant Businesses. I am seeking your assistance to assist me in collecting data for this doctoral research study. The purpose of the study is to explore strategies that some small family restaurant business owners use to achieve sustainability beyond 5 years of beginning operations.

The research will include a 20-minute semiformal open-ended interview questions to explore strategies that small business family restaurant owners use to sustain and improve business success beyond 5 years of beginning operation. Information obtained for the interview is confidential and in accordance with Walden University's Internal Review Board kept secure. Participants will receive no compensation; their names and company affiliations are confidential and not published in the doctoral study or elsewhere

Your participation could provide valuable information that supports the success of current and future small family restaurant business owners. Your decision to participate is voluntary, and you may stop the interview process at any time. Furthermore, you agree to provide documents that may help understand the strategies that have been successful in sustaining your business. You may request a copy of your transcribed interview, and a copy of the research results will be available upon request. Thank you for your consideration to take part in this study.

Sincerely,

Charlotte L. Cumbo

Appendix B: Participant Consent Form

(Name of the Study)

INTRODUCTION:

The Department of Business Administration at the Walden University supports the practice of protection for human subjects participating in research. The following information is provided for you to decide whether you wish to participate in the present study. You may refuse to sign this form and not participate in this study. You should be aware that if you agree to participate, you are free to withdraw at any time. If you do withdraw from this study, it will not affect your relationship with the university or researcher.

PURPOSE OF THE STUDY:

The purpose of this study is to explore strategies small family restaurant owners use to achieve sustainability beyond 5 years of beginning operations.

PROCEDURES:

You will be asked to participate in a 20 minute one on one interview in a controlled environment collaborated between you and the researcher. An audio recorder and handwritten notes will be used to collect information. As a participant, you have the right or option of having taping stopped at any time. The researcher will access and transcribing the recordings. The recordings will be stored (security) and stored for 5 years in which all recordings and notes will be erased/destroyed.

RISKS:

There are no anticipated risks associated with this study.

BENEFITS:

There are no expected benefits, gifts related to participation of this study.

PAYMENT TO PARTICIPANTS:

There are no monetary awards associated with the participation of this study.

PARTICIPANT CONFIDENTIALITY:

Your name will not be associated in any publication or presentation with the information collected about you or with the research findings from this study. Instead, the researcher(s) will use a study number or a pseudonym rather than your name. Your identifiable information will not be shared unless (a) it is required by law or university policy, or (b) you give written permission.

REFUSAL TO SIGN CONSENT AND AUTHORIZATION:

You are not required to sign this Consent and Authorization form and you may refuse to do so without affecting your right to any services you are receiving or may receive. However, if you refuse to sign, you will not be able to in this study.

CANCELLING THIS CONSENT AND AUTHORIZATION:

You may withdraw your consent to participate in this study at any time. You also have the right to cancel your permission to use and disclose further information collected about you, in writing, at any time, by sending your written request to the researcher.

If you cancel permission to use your information, the researchers will stop collecting additional information about you. However, the research team may use and disclose information that was gathered before they received your cancellation, as described above.

If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant, you may contact Charlotte Cumbo via phone xxx-xxx-xxx or email at wwwwww@wwww.www.

PARTICIPANT CERTIFICATION:

If you agree to participate in this study please sign where indicated, then tear off this section and return it to the investigator(s). Keep the consent information for your records.

I have read this Consent and Authorization form. I have had the opportunity to ask, and I have received answers to, any questions I had regarding the study and the use and disclosure of information about me for the study.

I agree to take part in this study as a research participant. By my signature I affirm that I	[
am at least 18 years old and that I have received a copy of this Consent and Authorization	or
form.	

Type/Print Participant's Name	Date	
Participant's Signature		
- <u></u> -		

Appendix C: Interview Protocol and Questions

- I. Open salutations and introductions of researcher and participant(s).
- II. Present consent form, review contents, and answer questions and concerns of participant(s).
- III. Give participant copy of consent form.
- IV. Remind participant of recorded interview.
- V. Turn on recording device, introduce participant(s) with pseudonym/coded identification; note the date and time.
- VI. Begin asking interview questions in sequential order.
- VII. Follow up with additional questions.
- VIII. Discuss data analysis and member-checking with participant(s).
- IX. Thank the participant(s) for their part in the study. Confirm contact numbers for follow up questions and concerns from participants.

Interview Questions

The central research question for this study is: What strategies do small family restaurant business owners use to sustain business beyond 5 years of beginning operations?

The following open- ended interview questions will address the central research question:

- 1. What strategies worked best for sustaining your business beyond 5 years of beginning operations?
- 2. What strategies were least successful to sustain your business beyond 5 years of beginning operations?

- 3. How did you adapt your strategies to manage internal and external trends that influence your business sustainability beyond 5 years of beginning operations?
- 4. What strategies did you use to ensure the daily business practices aligned with the goal to sustain beyond 5 years of beginning operations?
- 5. How did you address the key challenges to implement the successful strategies for sustainability beyond 5 years of beginning operations?
- 6. What additional information would you like to share about the strategies and processes that contributed to sustaining your business beyond 5 years of beginning operations?